
 
  

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California 90260 

Phone (310) 973-3200 – www.lawndalecity.org 
 

AGENDA 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Monday, October 5, 2020 - 6:30 p.m. 
Lawndale City Hall Council Chamber 

14717 Burin Avenue 
 

* COVID-19 NOTICE * 
Consistent with Executive Orders from the Executive Department of the State of California and 
the Los Angeles County Health Official’s “Safer at Home” Order, this City Council meeting will 
not be physically open to the public as City Councilmembers will be teleconferencing into the 
meeting via Webex Communications. 
 
How to observe the Meeting:  
To maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency and public access, members of the public 
can observe the meeting on YouTube “Lawndale CityTV”, the City Website, or Lawndale Community 
Cable Television on Spectrum & Frontier Channel 3. 
 
How to submit Public Comment:  
Members of the public may provide public comment by sending comments to the Clerk by email at 
cityclerk@lawndalecity.org.  Please submit your written comments as early as possible, preferably prior 
to the start of the meeting or if you are unable to email, please call the City Clerk's Office at (310) 973-
3213 by 5:30 p.m. on the date of the meeting. Email comments must identify the Agenda Item Number 
in the subject line of the email.  The public comment period will close once the public comment time for 
the agenda item has concluded. The comments will be entered into the record and provided to the 
Council. All comments should be a maximum of 500 words, which corresponds to approximately 3 
minutes of speaking time.  Please see the Temporary eComment Policy for Public Meetings. 
 
Copies of this Agenda packet may be obtained prior to the meeting outside of the Lawndale City Hall foyer 
or on the City Website.  Interested parties may contact the City Clerk Department at (310) 973-3213 for 
clarification regarding individual agenda items. 
 

This Agenda is subject to revision up to 72 hours before the meeting. 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
B. CEREMONIALS (Flag Salute and Inspiration) 

 
C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT 
 
D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (Public Comments) 

 
E. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL 
  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfzabQru02YprD2xs5FC2Ow
http://192.168.10.14/CablecastPublicSite/watch/1?channel=3
mailto:cityclerk@lawndalecity.org
http://www.lawndalecity.org/ASSETS/PDF/Corona/City%20of%20Lawndale%20-%20eComment%20Policy.pdf
http://www.lawndalecity.org/HTML/DEPTHTML/CCLERK/CCAgendasMinutes.htm


Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
October 5, 2020 
Page 2 

F. CONSENT CALENDAR

Items 1 through 7, will be considered and acted upon under one motion unless a City Councilmember 
removes individual items for further City Council consideration or explanation.

1. Motion to read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on the 
Agenda
Recommendation: that the City Council approve.

2. Amending Lawndale Municipal Code Chapter 17.50, Density Bonus Provisions for 
Residential Units
Recommendation: that the City Council approve the second reading and adopt Ordinance 
No. 1175-20 amending Lawndale Municipal Code Chapter 17.50, density bonus 
requirements to comply with recent changes in State Law.

3. Amending Lawndale Municipal Code Sections 8.24.115 and 8.24.200, Providing 
Authority for Recovery of Attorney’s Fees and Imposition of Treble Damages in 
Public Nuisance Abatement Actions
Recommendation: that the City Council approve the second reading and adopt Ordinance 
1176-20, amending Lawndale Municipal Code Sections 8.24.115 and 8.24.200, 
Providing Authority for Recovery of Attorney’s Fees and Imposition of Treble Damages 
in  Public Nuisance Abatement Actions.

4. Amending Existing Agreement for Installation of Telecommunication Equipment in 
the Right of Way
Recommendation: that the City Council approve an amendment to the Right-of-Way use 
agreement with Sunesys LLC identifying Crown Castle Fiber LLC as its successor.

5. Consideration of Claims Against the City
Recommendation: that the City Council reject the claims filed by Papa John’s 
International, Erika V. Mendoza, Leticia Bravo Cano and Christopher Espinoza and 
instruct staff to process the appropriate correspondence to the claimants.

6. Accounts Payable Register
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2010-054, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $181,240.21.

7. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – September 21, 2020 
Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 



Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
October 5, 2020 
Page 3 
 
 

 

G. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

8. Amending Title 17 of the Lawndale Municipal Code pertaining to the Development  
Standards for Accessory Dwelling Untis to reflect recent changes in State Law and 
a Finding of Exemption from California Environmental Quality Act 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) conduct a public hearing (b) determine that 
Ordinance No. 1177-20 is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines; and (c) introduce 
and approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1177-20, amending Title 17 of the 
Lawndale Municipal Code regarding ADU amendments to reflect recent changes in State 
law.  

 
H. ADMINISTRATION 

 
9. Harold E. Hofmann Community Center Facilities Use Policy 

Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2010-055 related to 
City Council Policy 104-20 affecting changes to the Harold E. Hofmann Community 
Center Facilities Use Rules and Regulations. 
 

10. Declaring an Emergency Condition and Approving Repairs without Notice for Bids  
for the Harold E. Hofmann Community Center 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) adopt Resolution No. CC-2010-056 declaring 
an emergency condition and approving the work necessary to make repairs to the Harold 
E. Hoffman Community Center without notice for bids pursuant to California public 
contract code sections 1102, 20168, and 22050 (b) authorize the Director of Finance to 
use and transfer the actual cost for the insurance deductible and uncovered cost, not to 
exceed $69,161, from the Urban Development Action Grants (UDAG) Fund, Fund 215, 
to Measure A Fund 281, in the event LACRPOSD denies the request to use Measure A-
Maintenance and Servicing funding for the Community Center repairs (c) authorize the 
City Manager to execute contracts and other documents necessary to complete this work. 

 
11. CARES Act Funding Allocation Revision 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve the Business Revitalization 
Subcommittee’s recommendation to maintain the City’s CARES Act funding allocations 
as approved by the City Council on September 8, 2020. 
 

I. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 
 

J. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

12. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 

K. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be held at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, 
October 19, 2020 in the Lawndale City Hall council chamber, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, 
California. 

 



Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
October 5, 2020 
Page 4 
 
 

 

It is the intention of the City of Lawndale to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in 
all respects.  If, as an attendee or a participant at this meeting, you will need special assistance beyond 
what is normally provided, we will attempt to accommodate you in every reasonable manner.  Please 
contact the City Clerk Department (310) 973-3213 prior to the meeting to inform us of your particular 
needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible.  Please advise us at that time if you will need 
accommodations to attend or participate in meetings on a regular basis. 
 

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the Agenda 
for the regular meeting of the City Council to be held on October 5, 2020 was posted not less than 
72 hours prior to the meeting. 

 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Matthew Ceballos, Assistant City Clerk 



1



2



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

ORDINANCE NO. 1175-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA  

AMENDING LAWNDALE MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 17.50 
TO UPDATE DENSITY BONUS STANDARDS FOR  

CONSISTENCY WITH STATE LAW 
 

SUMMARY: This ordinance updates standards for awarding density bonuses for 
residential developments consistent with recent changes in state law. 

 
 WHEREAS, Government Code Section 65915 requires cities to provide certain incentives, 
concessions or density bonuses to an applicant constructing housing units, a portion of which are 
restricted as affordable units or units restricted for senior citizens; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Government Code Section 65915(a) requires cities to adopt an ordinance that 
specifies how compliance with this density bonus requirements will be implemented; and  
 

WHEREAS, the state legislature recently passed legislation, Assembly Bill 1763 (“AB 
1763”), amending Government Code section 65915, to update state density bonus requirements 
effective January 1, 2020, specifically with regard to 100% affordable housing projects; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City now desires to amend Lawndale Municipal Code (“LMC”) Chapter 

17.50 to ensure compliance with current requirements in state density bonus law; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City further desires to amend LMC Chapter 17.50 to make clarifying 

updates to the City’s density bonus requirements to ensure those requirements are implemented 
consistent with state law; and  
 

WHEREAS, at a properly noticed public hearing held at a regular meeting of the Planning 
Commission of the City on September 9, 2020, the Planning Commission considered this issue 
and adopted Resolution No. 20-13 recommending that the City Council adopt this Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council, after notice duly given as required by law, held a public 

hearing on September 21, 2020 in the City Hall council chamber located at 14717 Burin Avenue, 
Lawndale, California, to consider the Planning Commission’s recommendation on this matter as 
set forth in its Resolution No. 20-30. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, 

CALIFORNIA, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Lawndale makes the following findings: 
 

A. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated fully herein. 
 



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

B. The changes to the City’s Municipal Code made by this Ordinance are consistent 
with the General Plan of the City of Lawndale. 

 
SECTION 2. Chapter 17.50 of the Lawndale Municipal Code is replaced to read, in its 

entirety, as follows (deletions marked in strikethrough, additions in bold and italics): 
 
“Chapter 17.50 DENSITY BONUS PROVISIONS FOR RESIDENTIAL UNITS 
 
17.50.010  Purpose. 
17.50.020  Definitions.  
17.50.030  Eligibility requirements for density bonuses. 
17.50.035  Density bonuses and replacement affordable housing requirements. 
17.50.040  Additional density bonus for donations of land. 
17.50.050  Density bonus and incentives for condominium conversions. 
17.50.060  Density bonus and concessions/incentive for child care facilities. 
17.50.065  Commercial housing—Agreement for partnered housing to contribute affordable 

housing. 
17.50.070  General provisions governing density bonus calculations. 
17.50.080  Incentives and concessions. 
17.50.090  Waivers and modifications of development standards. 
17.50.100  Parking incentives. 
17.50.110  Standards for density bonus housing developments. 
17.50.120  Application requirements. 
17.50.130  Density bonus housing agreements. 
17.50.140  Administrative fee. 
17.50.150  Violations of affordable housing requirements. 
17.50.160  Effects of state law. 

 
17.50.010 Purpose. 
 This chapter is being enacted: (A) to provide incentives for the production of housing for very 
low income, low income, moderate income, and senior citizen households, as well as transitional 
foster youth, disabled veterans, homeless persons, and lower income students; (B) to provide 
incentives for the construction of child care facilities serving very low, lower and moderate income 
households; and (C) to implement Sections 65915, 65915.5, and 65917 of the Government Code as 
required by Section 65915(a). In enacting this chapter, the city also intends to implement the goals, 
objectives, and policies of the city’s general plan housing element to encourage the construction 
of affordable housing in the city. It is also the city’s intent to encourage the development of rental 
housing to serve an economically diverse community. Accordingly, the city desires to provide a 
density bonus upon the request of an applicant when the applicant is not otherwise required to 
include affordable or senior citizen restricted units in a project.  
  

17.50.020 Definitions. 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_010
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_020


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

 For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply. Unless specifically defined 
below, words or phrases shall be interpreted as to give this chapter its most reasonable 
interpretation. 
    “Affordable housing cost” bears the meaning as defined in Section 50052.5 of the Health and 
Safety Code, as may be amended. 
    “Affordable ownership costs” means average annual housing costs, including mortgage 
payments, property taxes, homeowners insurance, and homeowners’ association dues, if any, 
which do not exceed the following: 
    Very low income households: fifty percent of area median income, adjusted for assumed 
household size based on unit size, multiplied by thirty percent. 
    Lower income households: seventy percent of area median income, adjusted for assumed 
household size based on unit size, multiplied by thirty percent. 
    Moderate income households: one hundred ten percent of area median income, adjusted for 
assumed household size based on unit size, multiplied by thirty-five percent. 
    On an annual basis, the city shall make available copies of the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development household income limits applicable to owner-occupied affordable units 
subject to this chapter and may determine an inflation factor to establish the affordable ownership 
cost limits applicable to an affordable unit. 
    “Affordable rent” bears the same meaning as defined in Section 50053 of the Health and Safety 
Code, as may be amended. 
    “Affordable units” are dwelling units which are affordable to very low, lower, or moderate 
income households as defined by this chapter or by any federal or state housing program and are 
subject to rental, sale, or resale provisions to maintain affordability. 
    “Applicant” means a developer or applicant for a density bonus who seeks and agrees to 
construct a qualified housing development on or after the effective date of the ordinance codified 
in this chapter pursuant to Section 65915(b) of the Government Code. 
    “Area median income” means area median income for Los Angeles County as published by the 
state of California pursuant to California Code of Regulations, Title 25, Section 6932, or a 
successor provision. 
    “Assumed household size based on unit size” means a household of one person in a studio 
apartment, two persons in a one bedroom unit, three persons in a two bedroom unit, and one 
additional person for each additional bedroom thereafter. 
    “Child care facility” means a child day care facility other than a family day care home including, 
but not limited to, infant centers, preschools, extended day care facilities, and school age child care 
centers. 
    “City” means the city of Lawndale, California, including the city’s redevelopment agency 
and/or the city’s housing authority acting on behalf of the city. 
    “Common interest development” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 4100 of 
the Civil Code. 

https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=reg


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    “Density bonus” means a density increase over the otherwise allowable zoning maximum gross 
residential density on a site as of the date of application by the applicant to the city, granted 
pursuant to this chapter, or, if elected by the applicant, a lesser percentage of density increase, 
including, but not limited to, no increase in density. 
    “Density bonus housing agreement” means an agreement governing affordable and density 
bonus units as a condition of granting any density bonus, as further described in 
Section 17.50.130 of this chapter. 
    “Density bonus units” mean residential units granted pursuant to this chapter which exceed the 
otherwise allowable zoning maximum residential density for a housing development. 
    “Development standard” means any site or construction condition including, but not limited to, 
a height limitation, a setback requirement, a floor area ratio, an on-site open-space requirement, or 
a parking ratio that applies to a housing development pursuant to any ordinance, general plan 
element, specific plan, or other local condition, law, policy, or regulation. A “site and construction 
condition” is a development condition or law that provides a specification for the physical 
development of a site and buildings on the site in a housing development. 

“Disabled veterans” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 18541 of the 
Government Code. 
    “First approval” means the first of the following approvals to occur with respect to a housing 
development: specific plan, development agreement, planned development permit, tentative map, 
minor land division, use permit, design permit, building permit, or any other development 
entitlement permit listed in Title 17 of this code. 

“Homeless persons” shall have the same meaning as provided in the federal McKinney-Vento 
Homeless Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. Section 11302).  

“Homeless service provider” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 
103577(e)(3) of the Health and Safety Code. 
    “Household income” means the combined adjusted gross household income for all adult persons 
living in a residential unit as calculated for the purpose of the Section 8 program under the United 
States Housing Act of 1937, as amended, or its successor provision. 
    “Housing development” means one or more groups of projects for residential units in the 
planned development of the city, including mixed-use developments. “Housing development” also 
includes a subdivision or common interest development approved by the city and consisting of 
residential units or unimproved residential lots and either a project to substantially rehabilitate and 
convert an existing commercial building to residential use or the substantial rehabilitation of an 
existing multifamily dwelling, as defined in Section 65863.4(d) of the Government Code, where 
the result of the rehabilitation would be a net increase in available residential units. For the purpose 
of calculating a density bonus, the residential units shall be on contiguous sites that are the subject 
of one development application, but do not have to be based upon individual subdivision maps or 
parcels. For purposes of this chapter, ‘housing development’ does not include projects for less than 
five dwelling units. 
    “Incentives and concessions” are regulatory concessions as listed in Section 17.50.080 of this 
chapter. 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.130&confidence=8
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.080&confidence=8


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    “Lower income household” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 50079.5 of the 
Health and Safety Code. 

“Lower income students” means students who have a household income and asset level that 
does not exceed the level for Cal Grant A or Cal Grant B award recipients as set forth in Section 
69432.7(k)(1) of the Education Code. 
    “Major transit stop” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 21155(b) of the Public 
Resources Code. 
    “Market-rate unit” means a dwelling unit which is not an affordable unit or an inclusionary unit. 
    “Maximum residential density” means the maximum number of dwelling units permitted by the 
zoning ordinance and land use element of the general plan or, if a range of density is permitted, 
means the maximum allowable density for the specific zoning range and land use element of the 
general plan applicable to the project. Where the density allowed under the zoning ordinance is 
inconsistent with the density allowed under the land use element of the general plan, the general 
plan density shall prevail. The maximum allowable density is based on the date an application for 
a housing development is deemed complete. This definition is used to calculate a density bonus 
pursuant to this chapter. 
    “Moderate income household” shall have the same meaning as “persons and families of 
moderate income” as provided in Section 50093 of the Health and Safety Code. 

“Persons and families of low or moderate income” shall have the same meaning as provided 
in Section 50093 of the Health and Safety Code. 
    “Replace” and “replacement,” in the context of Section 17.50.035, means either of the 
following: 
    1.   If any dwelling units described in Section 17.50.035(A) are occupied on the date of 
application, the proposed housing development shall provide at least the same number of units of 
equivalent size to be made available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied 
by, persons and families in the same or lower income category as those households in occupancy. 
If the income category of the household in occupancy is not known, it shall be rebuttably presumed 
that lower income renter households occupied these units in the same proportion of lower income 
renter households to all renter households within the jurisdiction, as determined by the most 
recently available data from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development’s 
Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy database. For unoccupied dwelling units described 
in Section 17.50.035(A) in a development with occupied units, the proposed housing development 
shall provide units of equivalent size to be made available at affordable rent or affordable housing 
cost to, and occupied by, persons and families in the same or lower income category as the last 
household in occupancy. If the income category of the last household in occupancy is not known, 
it shall be rebuttably presumed that lower income renter households occupied these units in the 
same proportion of lower income renter households to all renter households within the jurisdiction, 
as determined by the most recently available data from the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development’s Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy database. All 
replacement calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded up to the next whole number; 
or 
    2.   If all dwelling units described in Section 17.50.035(A) have been vacated or demolished 
within the five-year period preceding the application, the proposed housing development shall 

https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=pubres
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=pubres
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.035&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.035&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.035&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.035&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

provide at least the same number of units of equivalent size as existed at the highpoint of those 
units in the five-year period preceding the application to be made available at affordable rent or 
affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, persons and families in the same or lower income 
category as those persons and families in occupancy at that time, if known. If the incomes of the 
persons and families in occupancy at the highpoint is not known, it shall be rebuttably presumed 
that low income and very low income renter households occupied these units in the same 
proportion of low income and very low income renter households to all renter households within 
the jurisdiction, as determined by the most recently available data from the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy 
database. All replacement calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded up to the next 
whole number. 
    For purposes of this definition, “equivalent size” means that the replacement units contain at 
least the same total number of bedrooms as the units being replaced. 
    “Senior citizen housing development” means senior citizen housing as defined in Section 51.3 
(a housing development developed, substantially rehabilitated, or substantially renovated for 
senior citizens that has at least thirty-five dwelling units) and Section 51.12 of the Civil Code, or 
a mobile home park that limits residency based on age requirements for housing for older persons 
pursuant to Section 798.76 or 799.5 of the Civil Code. 
    “Specific adverse impact” means a significant, quantifiable, direct, and unavoidable impact, 
based on objective, identified, written public health or safety standards, policies, or conditions as 
they existed on the date that the application for the housing development was deemed complete. 
Mere inconsistency with the zoning ordinance or general plan land use designation shall not 
constitute a specific, adverse impact upon the public health or safety. 

“Special needs housing development” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 
51312 of the Health and Safety Code. 

“Supportive housing development” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 
50675.14 of the Health and Safety Code. 

“Transitional foster youth” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 66025.9 of 
the Education Code. 
    “Very low income household” shall have the same meaning as provided in Section 50105 of the 
Health and Safety Code.  
 17.50.030 Eligibility requirements for density bonuses. 
    A.  Eligible Housing Development Projects. Upon written request to the city, an applicant for 
a housing development is eligible for a density bonus in the amount stated below, provided that 
the applicant agrees to construct the housing development in accordance with one of the following 
criteria and satisfies the other requirements of this chapter: 
    1.   Very Low Income Units.  Developments with five percent of the total dwelling units 
(excluding units added by the density bonus) designated for very low income households are 
entitled to a density bonus of twenty percent over the maximum residential density. 
    2.   Low Income Units.  Developments with ten percent of the total dwelling units (excluding 
units added by the density bonus) designated for lower income households are entitled to a 
density bonus of twenty percent over the maximum residential density. 

https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=civ
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=civ
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_030


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    3.   Moderate Income Units. Developments with ten percent of the total dwelling units 
(excluding units added by the density bonus) designated for moderate income households are 
entitled to a density bonus of five percent over the maximum residential density, provided that 
the development is a common interest development and provided that all units in the developer 
are offered to the public for purchase. 

4. One Hundred Percent Lower Income Or Moderate Income Units.  Developments with at 
least eighty percent of the total units, exclusive of a manager's unit or units, designated for 
lower income households, and all other units (up to twenty percent of the total units) designated 
for moderate income households, are entitled to a density bonus of eighty percent of the number 
of units designated for lower income households (excluding units added by the density bonus).  
However, if the housing development is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop the 
city will not impose any maximum controls on density. 

5. Senior Citizen Housing Developments. Senior citizen housing developments are entitled 
to a density bonus of twenty percent of the number of senior housing units provided. 
    6.   Foster, Veteran and Homeless Housing. Developments with ten percent of the total dwelling 
units (excluding any units permitted by the density bonus) designed for transitional foster youth, 
disabled veterans, or homeless persons are entitled to a density bonus of twenty percent of the 
number of the transitional units giving rise to a density bonus. 

7. Lower income student housing.  Student housing developments with twenty percent of 
the total units (excluding any units permitted by the density bonus) designated for lower income 
students are entitled to a density bonus of thirty-five percent of the student housing units, 
provided that the development meets the following requirements: 

a. All units in the student housing development will be used exclusively for undergraduate, 
graduate, or professional students enrolled full time at an institution of higher education 
accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges or the Accrediting Commission 
for Community and Junior Colleges. In order to be eligible under this subsection (A)(7), the 
developer shall, as a condition of receiving a certificate of occupancy, provide evidence to the city 
that the developer has entered into an operating agreement or master lease with one or more 
institutions of higher education for the institution or institutions to occupy all units of the student 
housing development with students from that institution or institutions. An operating agreement 
or master lease entered into pursuant to this subsection (A)(7) is not violated or breached if, in any 
subsequent year, there are not sufficient students enrolled in an institution of higher education to 
fill all units in the student housing development. 

b. The eligibility of a lower income student under this subsection (A)(7)(b) shall be verified 
by an affidavit, award letter, or letter of eligibility provided by the institution of higher education 
that the student is enrolled in, as described in subsection (A)(7)(a), or by the California Student 
Aid Commission that the student receives or is eligible for financial aid, including an institutional 
grant or fee waiver, from the college or university, the California Student Aid Commission, or the 
federal government. 

c. The development will provide priority for the applicable affordable units for lower income 
students experiencing homelessness. A homeless service provider or institution of higher 
education that has knowledge of a person's homeless status may verify a person's status as 
homeless for purposes of this subsection (A)(7)(c). 



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

For purposes of calculating a density bonus granted pursuant to this subsection (A)(7), the term 
“unit” means one rental bed and its pro rata share of associated common area facilities.  
    B.   Higher Density Bonus for Greater Contribution of Affordable Units. Upon written request 
to the city, an applicant for a housing development that is eligible for a density bonus based upon 
the contribution of affordable units, may receive a higher amount of density bonus if the percentage 
of very low, lower, and moderate income housing units exceeds the base percentage established in 
subsections (A)(1), (A)(2), or (A)(3) of this section, as follows: 
    1.   Very low income units—For each one percent increase above five percent in affordable units 
for very low income households, the density bonus shall be increased by two and one-half percent 
up to a maximum of thirty-five percent, as follows: 
  

Percentage Very Low Income Units Percentage Density Bonus 

5 20 

6 22.5 

7 25 

8 27.5 

9 30 

10 32.5 

11 35 

  
    2.   Lower income units—For each one percent increase above ten percent in affordable units 
for lower income households, the density bonus shall be increased by one and one-half percent up 
to a maximum of thirty-five percent, as follows: 
  

Percentage Low Income Units Percentage Density Bonus 

10 20 

11 21.5 

12 23 

13 24.5 

14 26 

15 27.5 

17 30.5 

18 32 

19 33.5 



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

20 35 

  
    3.   Moderate income ownership units—For each one percent increase above ten percent in 
affordable units offered for sale to moderate income households, the density bonus shall be 
increased by one percent up to a maximum of thirty-five percent, as follows: 
  

  
  

Percentage Moderate Income Units 

Percentage Density Bonus 

10 5 

11 6 

12 7 

13 8 

14 9 

15 10 

16 11 

17 12 

18 13 

19 14 

20 15 

21 16 

22 17 

23 18 

24 19 

25 20 

26 21 

27 22 

28 23 

29 24 

30 25 

31 26 

32 27 



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

  
  

Percentage Moderate Income Units 

Percentage Density Bonus 

33 28 

34 29 

35 30 

36 31 

37 32 

38 33 

39 34 

40 35 

  
   C.  Continued Affordability. Affordable units that qualified a housing development for a density 
bonus shall remain affordable as follows: 
    1.  Requirements. 

 a. Very low income and lower income rental dwelling units shall remain at an affordable rent 
to the designated income group for a minimum of fifty-five years, or for a longer period of time if 
required by any construction or mortgage financing assistance program, mortgage insurance 
program, or rental subsidy program applicable to the dwelling units.   

b. Housing developments described in subsection (A)(4) shall be subject to a recorded 
affordability restriction for a minimum of fifty-five years, or for a longer period of time if 
required by any construction or mortgage financing assistance program, mortgage insurance 
program, or rental subsidy program applicable to the dwelling units.  The rent for at least twenty 
percent of the units in the development shall be set at an affordable rent and the rent for the 
remaining units in the development shall be set at an amount consistent with the maximum rent 
levels for a housing development that receives an allocation of state or federal low-income 
housing tax credits from the California Tax Credit Allocation Committee. 
    c.   The foster care, veteran and homeless units described in subsection (A)(6) shall be subject 
to a recorded affordability restriction of fifty-five years and shall be provided at the same 
affordability level as very low income units. 

d. The lower income student housing units described in subsection (A)(7) shall be subject 
to a recorded affordability restriction of fifty-five years.  The rent provided in the applicable 
units of the development for lower income students shall be calculated at thirty percent of sixty-
five percent of the area median income for a single-room occupancy unit type. 

e.   Replacement units per Section 17.50.035 that are rental dwelling units shall be subject to a 
recorded affordability restriction for at least fifty-five years. 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.035&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    f.   Replacement units per Section 17.50.035 that are for-sale units, shall be subject to the 
provisions of subsection (C)(2). 
    2.   An applicant shall agree to, and the city shall ensure, that the initial occupant of all for-sale 
units that qualified the applicant for a density bonus are persons and families of very low, low, or 
moderate income and that the units are offered at an affordable housing cost. The city shall enforce 
an equity-sharing agreement, unless it is in conflict with the requirements of another public funding 
source or law. The following shall apply to the equity-sharing agreement: 
    a.   Upon resale, the seller of the unit shall retain the value of any improvements, the down 
payment, and the seller’s proportionate share of appreciation. The city shall recapture any initial 
subsidy and its proportionate share of appreciation, which shall then be used within five years for 
any of the purposes described in Section 33334.2(e) of the Health and Safety Code that promote 
homeownership. 
    b.   For purposes of this subsection (C)(2), the city’s initial subsidy shall be equal to the fair 
market value of the home at the time of initial sale minus the initial sale price to the moderate 
income household, plus the amount of any down payment assistance or mortgage assistance. If 
upon resale the market value is lower than the initial market value, then the value at the time of 
the resale shall be used as the initial market value. 
    c.   For purposes of this subsection (C)(2), the city’s proportionate share of appreciation shall 
be equal to the ratio of the initial subsidy to the fair market value of the home at the time of initial 
sale. 
    3.   The resale price of any owner-occupied affordable unit shall not exceed the affordable 
ownership costs with the following exceptions: (a) customary closing costs and costs of sale; or 
(b) costs of real estate commissions paid by the seller if a licensed real estate salesperson is 
employed; or (c) consideration of permanent capital improvements installed by the seller. 
    4.   These provisions for continued affordability shall be a provision of the density bonus 
housing agreement required by Section 17.50.130. 
    D.   Specification of Basis for Density Bonus. Each applicant who requests a density bonus 
pursuant to this section, shall elect which category in subsection (A) the density bonus award will 
be based on. Each housing development is entitled to only one density bonus.  Density bonuses 
from more than one category may not be combined.  
  

17.50.035 Density bonuses and replacement affordable housing requirements. 
    A.  An applicant shall be ineligible for a density bonus or any other incentives or concessions 
under this section if the housing development is proposed on any property that includes a parcel 
or parcels on which rental dwelling units are, or if the dwelling units have been vacated or 
demolished in the five-year period preceding the application have been, subject to a recorded 
covenant, ordinance, or law that restricts rents to affordable rent levels; subject to any other form 
of rent or price control through a public entity’s valid exercise of its police power; or occupied by 
lower or very low income households, unless the proposed housing development replaces those 
units, and either of the following applies: 
    1.   The proposed housing development (inclusive of the units replaced pursuant to this section) 
contains affordable units at no less than the percentages set forth in Section 17.50.030(A); or 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.035&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.130&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_035
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    2.   Each unit in the development (exclusive of a manager’s unit or units) is affordable to, and 
occupied by, either a lower or very low income household. 
 
 17.50.040 Additional density bonus for donations of land. 
    A.  Upon written request, when an applicant for a tentative map, subdivision map, parcel map, 
or other residential development approval donates land to the city in accordance with this section, 
the applicant shall be  eligible for a fifteen percent density bonus at the site of the housing 
development plus any increase in the density bonus granted under subsection (C).  The density 
bonus provided pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any density bonus granted pursuant 
to Section 17.50.030, up to a maximum combined density bonus of thirty-five percent. 
    B.   To qualify for the additional density bonus described in subsection (A) of this section, the 
donation of land must meet all of the following criteria: 
    1.   The land must be transferred no later than the date of the approval of the final subdivision 
map, parcel map, or housing development application; and 
    2.   The developable acreage and zoning classification of the land being transferred must be 
sufficient to permit construction of dwelling units affordable to very low income households in an 
amount not less than ten percent of the total number of market rate dwelling units in the proposed 
development (i.e., the proposed development before the addition of any density bonus); and 
   3.   The donated land is at least one acre in size or is large enough to permit development of at 
least forty units, has the appropriate general plan land use designation, has the appropriate zoning 
and development standards for affordable housing and, at the time of project approval is, or at the 
time of construction will be, served by adequate public facilities and infrastructure; and 
    4.   No later than the date of approval of the final map, parcel map, or other development 
application for the housing development, the donated land must have all of the applicable permits 
and approvals (other than building permits) necessary for the development of the very low income 
housing units on the donated land, except that the city may subject the proposed housing 
development to subsequent design review to the extent authorized by Section 65583.2(i) of the 
Government Code if the design is not reviewed by the city prior to the time of transfer; and 
    5.   The donated land is subject to a deed restriction ensuring continued affordability of the very 
low income units consistent with Section 17.50.030(C), which deed restriction shall be recorded 
upon the donated property at the time of its transfer; and 
    6.   The land will be transferred to the city or to a housing developer approved by the city. The 
city reserves the right to require the applicant to identify a developer and to require that the land 
be transferred to that developer; and 
    7.   The land is within the boundary of the proposed housing development or within one-quarter 
mile of the boundary of the proposed housing development; and 
    8.   No later than the date of approval of the final map, parcel map, or other development 
application for the housing development, a proposed source of funding for the construction of the 
very low income units shall be identified. 
    C.   Additional Density Bonus Based on Greater Suitability of Land for Very Low Income 
Housing. For each one percent increase above the minimum ten percent in the number of very low 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_040
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

income housing units that can be accommodated on the donated land, the maximum density bonus 
shall be increased by one percent, up to a maximum of thirty-five percent, as follows: 
  

 Percentage of Very Low Income Units That 
Can Be Accommodated on Donated Land 

Percentage of Additional Density Bonus 

10 15 

11 16 

12 17 

13 18 

14 19 

15 20 

16 21 

17 22 

18 23 

19 24 

20 25 

21 26 

22 27 

23 28 

24 29 

25 30 

26 31 

27 32 

28 33 

29 34 

30 35 

  

17.50.050 Density bonus and incentives for condominium conversions. 
    A.  An applicant for a conversion of existing rental apartments to condominiums is eligible for 
either a density bonus or other incentives of equivalent financial value, at the option of the city, if 
the applicant agrees to provide: (1) at least thirty-three percent of the total units of the proposed 
condominium project to persons and families of low or moderate income; or (2) at least fifteen 
percent of the total units of the proposed condominium project to lower income households; and 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_050


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

(3) the applicant agrees to pay for the reasonably necessary administrative costs incurred by the 
city pursuant to this section. 
    B.   Condominium conversions qualified under subsection (A) may receive one of the following, 
at the city’s option: 
    1.   A flat density bonus of twenty-five percent to be provided within the existing structure or 
structures proposed for conversion, excepting that a condominium conversion is ineligible for this 
bonus if the apartments to be converted originally received a density bonus or incentives pursuant 
to any other provisions of this chapter or pursuant to Section 65915 of the Government Code. 
Qualified applicants may choose to implement a lower density bonus. 
    2.   Incentives of equivalent financial value in the form of a reduction or waiver of requirements 
or fees which the city might otherwise apply as conditions of conversion approval. “Other 
incentives of equivalent financial value” shall not be construed to require the city to provide cash 
transfer payments or other monetary compensation to the condominium conversion project or its 
applicant. 
    C.   The city reserves the right to place such reasonable conditions on the granting of a density 
bonus or other incentives of equivalent financial value pursuant to this section as it finds 
appropriate, including, but not limited to, conditions which assure continued affordability of units 
to subsequent purchasers who are persons and families of low and moderate income or lower 
income households. 
    D.  Condominium conversions are eligible only for the granting of a density bonus or incentive 
of equivalent value pursuant to this section, which bonus or incentive may not be granted in 
addition to, or combined with, any other incentives, concessions, density bonuses or waivers and 
reductions of development standards pursuant other sections of this chapter. Nothing in this section 
shall be construed to require the city to approve a proposal to convert rental apartments into 
condominiums. 
    E.   An applicant for approval to convert apartments to a condominium project may submit to a 
city a preliminary proposal pursuant to this section prior to the submittal of any formal requests 
for subdivision map approvals. The city shall, within ninety days of receipt of a written proposal, 
notify the applicant in writing of the manner in which it will comply with this section. The 
procedures for processing an application pursuant to this section shall be those established pursuant 
to Chapter 17.80. 
    F.   An applicant shall be ineligible for a density bonus or any other incentives or concessions 
under this section if the condominium project is proposed on any property that includes a parcel 
or parcels on which rental dwelling units are or, if the dwelling units have been vacated or 
demolished in the five-year period preceding the application, have been subject to a recorded 
covenant, ordinance, or law that restricts rents to levels affordable to persons and families of lower 
or very low income; subject to any other form of rent or price control through a public entity’s 
valid exercise of its police power; or occupied by lower or very low income households, unless 
the proposed condominium project replaces those units, and either of the following applies: 
    1.   The proposed condominium project, inclusive of the units replaced, contains affordable units 
at the percentages set forth in subsection A of this section. 
    2.   Each unit in the development, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units, is affordable to, and 
occupied by, either a lower or very low income household.  

https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=chapter_17.80&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

 17.50.060 Density bonus and concessions/incentive for child care facilities. 
    A.  A housing development that is eligible for a density bonus pursuant to 
Section 17.50.030 which includes a child care facility qualified under this section is also eligible 
for either of the following, at the option of the city, if requested in writing by the applicant: 
    1.   An additional density bonus that is an amount of square feet of residential space that is equal 
to or greater than the amount of square feet in the child care facility; or 
    2.   An additional concession or incentive that contributes significantly to the economic 
feasibility of the construction of the child care facility. 
    B.   A child care facility will only qualify the housing development for an additional density 
bonus or incentive or concession if it is: (1) located on the premises of, as part of, or adjacent to 
the housing development; and (2) the housing development is eligible for a density bonus pursuant 
to Section 17.50.030. As a condition of approving the additional density bonus for the housing 
development, the child care facility must meet both of the following criteria: 
    1.   The child care facility shall be used exclusively for child care for a period of time that is as 
long as or longer than the period of time during which the affordable units are required to remain 
affordable as stated in deed restrictions and pursuant to Section 17.50.030(C); and 
    2.   Of the children who attend the child care facility, the percentage of children of very low 
income households, lower income households, or moderate income households shall be equal to 
or greater than the percentage of dwelling units in that housing development that are proposed to 
be affordable to very low income households, lower income households, or moderate income 
households pursuant to Section 17.50.030. 
    C.   Notwithstanding any requirement of this section, the city shall not be required to provide a 
density bonus or concession or incentive for a child care facility if it makes a written finding, based 
upon substantial evidence, that the community already has adequate child care facilities. 
 

17.50.065 Commercial housing—Agreement for partnered housing to contribute affordable 
housing. 
    When an applicant for approval of a commercial development has entered into an agreement for 
partnered housing described in Section 65915.7 of the Health and Safety Code to contribute 
affordable housing through a joint project or two separate projects encompassing affordable 
housing, the city shall grant to the commercial developer a development bonus as prescribed in 
Section 65915.7 of the Health and Safety Code. This section shall remain in effect only until 
January 1, 2022, and as of that date is repealed.  
 

17.50.070 General provisions governing density bonus calculations. 
    A.  For the purposes of any provisions in this chapter, an applicant may elect to accept a lesser 
percentage of density bonus than that to which the housing development is eligible. 
    B.   When calculating the number of permitted density bonus units, any calculations resulting in 
fractional units shall be rounded up to the next larger whole number. 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_060
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_065
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_065
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_070


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    C.   For the purpose of calculating a density bonus, the dwelling units shall be on contiguous 
sites that are the subject of one development application, but do not have to be based upon 
individual subdivision maps or parcels. The density bonus shall be permitted in geographic areas 
of the housing development other than the areas where the affordable units are located. 
    D.  For the purposes of this chapter, the term “total units” or “total dwelling units” in a housing 
development does not include those units added by any density bonus. 
    E.   Regardless of the number or extent of affordable or qualifying units, senior housing, land 
dedication, child care facilities or other qualifications for a density bonus provided in any single 
housing development, no housing development may be entitled to a total density bonus of more 
than thirty-five percent, except as provided in Section 17.50.030(A)(4). 
   

TABLE 1: Density Bonus Summary  
A density bonus may be selected from only one category, except that bonuses for land 

donation may be combined with others, up to a maximum of 35% (except as provided in 
Section 17.50.030(A)(4)), and an additional sq. ft. bonus may be granted for a child care 

facility.  

Qualifying 
Element of 

Development 
Project  

Minimum 
Percentage or 
Requirement 

Bonus Granted  

Additional 
Bonus for 
Each 1% 

Increase in 
Affordable 

Units  

% Affordable Units 
Required for 

Maximum 35% 
Bonus  

Affordable Housing  
 Very low income 

units 5%  20%  2.5%  11%  

 Lower income 
units 10%  20%  1.5%  20%  

 Moderate income 
units (ownership 

units only)  
10%  5%  1%  40%  

Lower/Moderate 
income units 

At least 80% 
lower; remaining 

units moderate 

80% of number 
of lower income 

units(1) 
—  —  

Senior citizen 
housing  

Qualified senior 
citizen housing 

development  

20% of the 
number of 

senior citizen 
housing units  

—  —  

Foster, disabled 
veteran and 

homeless housing  
10%  

20% of the 
number of 

qualifying units  
—  —  



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

Lower income 
student housing 20% 

35% of the 
student housing 

units 

 
—  

 
—  

Land donation for 
very low income 

housing  

Land donated can 
accommodate 

number of very 
low income units 
equal to 10% of 
units in project 

15%  1%  

Land donated can 
accommodate 

number of very low 
income units equal 
to 30% of units in 

project 

Child care facility  

Development 
qualifies for 

density bonus 
under Section 

17.50.030; facility 
meets 

requirements in 
Section 

17.50.060.  

Equal to or 
greater than sq. 
ft. in child care 

facility (2)  

—  —  

Condominium Conversion 

 Lower income 
units 15%  25% (3)  —  

N/A 
Maximum density 

bonus is 25% 

 Low/Moderate 
income units 33%  25% (3)  —  

N/A 
Maximum density 

bonus is 25% 

Notes:  
(1) If the housing development is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop the city 
will not impose any maximum density requirement. 

(2) Or an additional concession or incentive that contributes significantly to the economic 
feasibility of the construction of the childcare facility, at the city’s option. 

(3) Or an incentive of equal value, at the city's option.  
  

17.50.080 Incentives and concessions. 
    A.  Definition of a Qualified Concession or Incentive. An applicant for a density bonus pursuant 
to Section 17.50.030 may also submit to the city a written proposal for specific incentives or 
concessions as provided in this section. The applicant may also request a meeting with the city’s 
city manager or designee to discuss such proposal. For purposes of this chapter, concessions and 
incentives include any of the following: 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_080
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    1.   Reductions in site development standards or modifications of zoning requirements or 
architectural design requirements that exceed the minimum building standards approved by the 
California Building Standards Commission as provided in Part 2.5 (commencing with Section 
18901) of Division 13 of the Health and Safety Code. These include, without limitation, a 
reduction in setback and square footage requirements and in the ratio of vehicular parking spaces 
that would otherwise be required. In order to qualify as a “concession or incentive,” the city must 
be able to find, based on substantial evidence, that the requested reductions in site development 
standards result in identifiable and actual cost reductions to provide for affordable housing costs 
or for rents for the targeted units to be set as specified in Section 17.50.030(C); or 
    2.   Approval of mixed use zoning in conjunction with the housing development if commercial, 
office, industrial, or other land uses will reduce the cost of the housing development and if the 
commercial, office, industrial or other land uses are compatible with the housing development and 
the existing or planned development in the area where the proposed housing development will be 
located; or 
    3.   Other regulatory incentives or concessions proposed by the applicant or the city, so long as 
the city can find, based on substantial evidence, that such proposals result in identifiable and actual 
cost reductions to provide for affordable housing costs or for rents for the targeted units to be set 
as specified in Section 17.50.030(C). 
    B.   Findings to Deny Concession or Incentive. The city shall grant the concession or incentive 
requested by the applicant unless the city makes a written finding, based upon substantial evidence, 
of any of the following: 
    1.   The concession or incentive does not result in identifiable and actual cost reductions to 
provide for affordable housing costs or for affordable rents for the targeted units to be set as 
specified in Section 17.50.030(C); or 
    2.   The concession or incentive would have a specific adverse impact upon public health and 
safety or the physical environment or on any real property that is listed in the California Register 
of Historical Resources and for which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid 
the specific adverse impact without rendering the development unaffordable to low income and 
moderate-income households; or 
    3.   The concession or incentive would be contrary to state or federal law. 
    C.   Number of Concessions or Incentives. If all other provisions of this section are satisfied, an 
applicant will be eligible for the following number of incentives and concessions: 
    1.   One incentive or concession for housing developments where at least five percent of the 
total units are for very low income households, at least ten percent of the total units are for lower 
income households, or at least ten percent of the total units in a common interest development are 
sold to moderate income households; 
    2.   Two incentives or concessions for housing developments where at least ten percent of the 
total units are for very low income households, at least twenty percent of the total units are for 
lower income households, or at least twenty percent of the total units in a common interest 
development are sold to moderate income households; or 

https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=heasaf
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    3.   Three incentives or concessions for housing developments where at least fifteen percent of 
the total units are for very low income households, at least thirty percent of the total units are for 
lower income households, or at least thirty 
percent of the total units in a common interest development are sold to moderate income 
households. 

4. Four incentives or concessions for projects meeting the criteria of Section 
17.50.030(A)(4). If the project is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop the 
applicant shall also receive a height increase of up to three additional stories, or 33 feet.  
  

TABLE 2: Incentives and Concessions Summary  
Affordable Units 

% Very Low 
Income Units 

% Lower 
Income Units 

% Moderate 
Income Units 
Sold in CID 

% Lower/Mod 
Income Units 

Number of 
Incentives/Concessions 

5% 10% 10% _ 1 
10% 20% 20% _ 2 
15% 30% 30% _ 3 

_ _ _ 

At least 80% 
lower income; 

remaining units 
moderate income 

4 

Other Qualifying Project Element(1) 
Child care facility 1(2) 

Commercial Housing with Partnered Housing Agreement See Section 17.50.065 
Condominium Conversion 

33% of total units provided to persons or families of low or 
moderate income, or 15% of total units provided to lower 
income households 

1(3) 

(1) No incentives or concessions are available for land donation.  
(2) Or a density bonus equal to or greater than the square feet in child care facility, at the city’s 
option. 
(3) Or a density bonus of twenty-five percent, at the city’s option.  
 
    D.  This section does not limit or require the provision of direct financial incentives for the 
housing development, including the provision of publicly-owned land, by the city or the waiver of 
fees or dedication requirements. Nor does any provision of this section require the city to grant an 
incentive or concession found to have a specific adverse impact. 



Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    E.   The granting of a concession or incentive shall not require, or be interpreted, in and of itself, 
to require a general plan amendment, local coastal plan amendment, zoning change, study, or other 
discretionary approval. For purposes of this chapter, “study” does not include reasonable 
documentation to establish eligibility for the concession or incentive or to demonstrate that the 
proposal meets the definition of an “incentive or concession.” Except as provided in 
Sections 17.50.080(C) and 17.50.090(A), the granting of a density bonus shall not require or be 
interpreted to require the waiver of a local ordinance or provisions of a local ordinance unrelated 
to development standards.  
  

17.50.090 Waivers and modifications of development standards. 
    A.  Except as provided in subsection (E), applicants granted a density bonus pursuant to 
Section 17.50.030 may, by written proposal, seek a waiver, modification or reduction of 
development standards that would otherwise have the effect of physically precluding the 
construction of the housing development at the densities or with the concessions or incentives 
permitted pursuant to this chapter. The applicant may also request a meeting with the city to discuss 
such request for waivers and modifications. 
    B.   To obtain a waiver or modification of development standards, the applicant shall show that 
the development standards will have the effect of physically precluding the construction of a 
housing development meeting the criteria of Section 17.50.030(A) at the densities or with the 
concessions or incentives permitted by this chapter. 
    C.   A proposal for the waiver or reduction of development standards pursuant to this section 
shall neither reduce nor increase the number of incentives or concessions to which the applicant is 
entitled pursuant to Section 17.50.080. 
    D.  The city may deny a request for any waiver, modification or reduction of development 
standards if the waiver, modification or reduction would have a specific adverse impact and there 
be no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact.  

E. Notwithstanding subsection (A), a housing development that receives a waiver from any 
maximum controls on density pursuant to Section 17.50.030(A)(4) shall not be eligible for, and 
shall not receive, a waiver or reduction of development standards pursuant to this Section, other 
than as expressly provided in Section 17.50.030(A)(4) and 17.50.080(C)(4).   
17.50.100 Parking incentives. 
    A.  Except as provided in subsections (B) and (C) hereof, upon the written request of the 
applicant for a housing development meeting the criteria for a density bonus under 
Section 17.50.030, the city shall not require a vehicular parking ratio that exceeds the following: 
    1.   Zero to one-bedroom units: one on-site parking space. 
    2.   Two to three-bedroom units: two on-site parking spaces. 
    3.   Four and more bedroom units: two and one-half parking spaces. 
    B.   Notwithstanding subsection (A), if a development includes (1) the maximum percentage of 
low income or very low income units provided for in Section 17.50.030(B)(1) and (B)(2), and (2) 
is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop and there is unobstructed access to the major 
transit stop from the development, then, upon the request of the developer, the city shall not impose 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.080&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.090&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_090
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.080&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_100
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

a vehicular parking ratio that exceeds 0.5 spaces per bedroom. For purposes of this section, a 
development shall have unobstructed access to a major transit stop if a resident is able to access 
the major transit stop without encountering natural or constructed impediments. 
    C.   Notwithstanding subsection (A), if a development consists solely of rental units, exclusive 
of manager units, with an affordable housing cost to lower income families, then, upon the request 
of the developer, the city shall only impose vehicular parking ratios consistent with the following: 
    1.   If the development is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop, and there is 
unobstructed access to the major transit stop from the development, the ratio shall not exceed 0.5 
spaces per unit. 
    2.   If the development is a for-rent housing development for individuals who are sixty-two years 
of age or older that complies with Sections 51.2 and 51.3 of the Civil Code, the ratio shall not 
exceed 0.5 spaces per unit. The development shall have either paratransit service or unobstructed 
access, within one-half mile, to fixed bus route service that operates at least eight times per day. 
    3.   Notwithstanding subsection (D), if the development is either a special needs housing 
development or a supportive housing development, then the city shall not impose any minimum 
parking requirement, provided that if the development is a special needs housing development, 
the  development shall have either paratransit service or unobstructed access, within one-half mile, 
to fixed bus route service that operates at least eight times per day. 
    D.  Notwithstanding subsections (B), (C)(1), and (C)(2), if the city or an independent consultant 
has conducted an area wide or jurisdiction wide parking study in the last seven years prior to any 
density bonus application, then the city may impose a higher vehicular parking ratio not to exceed 
the ratio described in subsection (A), based upon substantial evidence found in the parking study, 
that includes, but is not limited to, an analysis of parking availability, differing levels of transit 
access, walkability access to transit services, the potential for shared parking, the effect of parking 
requirements on the cost of market-rate and subsidized developments, and the lower rates of car 
ownership for low income and very low income individuals, including seniors and special needs 
individuals. The city shall bear the costs of any such study. The city shall make findings, based on 
the parking study completed in conformity with this subsection, supporting the need for the higher 
parking ratio. 
    E.   Guest parking and handicapped parking shall be included within the maximum number of 
spaces that may be required. If the total number of parking spaces required for a housing 
development is other than a whole number, the number shall be rounded up to the next whole 
number. For purposes of this section, a housing development may provide on-site parking through 
tandem parking or uncovered parking, but not through on-street parking. This section shall apply 
to a development that meets the requirements of Section 17.50.030, but only at the request of the 
applicant.  

F.  A request pursuant to this Section shall not reduce or increase the number of incentives 
or concessions to which the applicant is otherwise entitled. 
  

17.50.110 Standards for density bonus housing developments. 
    A.  Affordable units qualifying a housing development for a density bonus shall be reasonably 
dispersed throughout the housing development and compatible with the design of market-rate units 

https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=civ
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.030&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_110


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

in terms of appearance, materials, and finished quality. The applicant may reduce the interior 
amenities and square footage of inclusionary units, provided all units conform to all other 
requirements of this code. 
    B.   For developments with multiple market-rate units containing differing numbers of 
bedrooms, affordable units qualifying a housing development for a density bonus shall be 
representative of the market-rate unit mix. 
    C.   All building permits for affordable units qualifying a housing development for a density 
bonus shall be issued concurrently with, or prior to, issuance of building permits for the market 
rate units, and the affordable units shall be constructed concurrently with, or prior to, construction 
of the market rate units. Occupancy permits and final inspections for affordable units qualifying a 
housing development for a density bonus shall be approved concurrently with, or prior to, approval 
of occupancy permits and final inspections for the market rate units.  
 
 17.50.120 Application requirements. 
    A.  A written application for a density bonus, incentive, concession, waiver, or modification 
pursuant to this chapter shall be submitted with the first application for approval of a housing 
development and processed concurrently with all other applications required for the housing 
development. The application shall be submitted on the form prescribed by Section 17.12.030 of 
this code and shall additionally include at least the following information: 
    1.   Site plan showing total number of units, number and location of affordable units, and1 
number and location of proposed density bonus units. The site plan shall describe the size, in square 
footage, of all affordable units and density bonus units. 
    2.   A marketing plan that describes how the applicant will inform the public, and those within 
the appropriate income groups, of the availability of affordable units. 
    3.   The location, structure (attached, semi-attached, or detached), proposed tenure (for sale or 
rental), and size of the proposed market-rate units, any commercial space, density bonus units, 
and/or affordable units. 
    4.   Level of affordability proposed for each affordable housing unit and proposals for ensuring 
affordability. 
    5.   Description of any requested incentives, concessions, waivers or modifications of 
development standards, or modified parking standards. The application shall include evidence that 
the requested incentives and concessions are required for the provision of affordable housing costs 
and/or affordable rents, as well as evidence relating to any other factual findings required under 
Section 17.50.050. 
    6.   If a density bonus or concession is requested in connection with a land donation, the 
application shall show the location of the land to be dedicated and provide evidence that each of 
the findings included in Section 17.50.080 can be made. 
    7.   If a density bonus or concession/incentive is requested for a child care facility, the 
application shall show the location and square footage of the child care facilities and provide 
evidence that each of the findings included Section 17.50.090 can be made. 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_120
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.12.030&confidence=8
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.050&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.080&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.090&confidence=6


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    8.   For phased projects, a phasing plan that provides for the timely development of the number 
of affordable units proportionate to each proposed phase of development. 
    9.   Any other information reasonably requested by the planning commission to assist with 
evaluation of the application, excepting that neither the city nor any body thereof may condition 
the submission, review, or approval of an application pursuant to this chapter on the preparation 
of an additional report or study that is not otherwise required by state law or the terms of this 
chapter. 
    B.   An application for a density bonus, incentive or concession pursuant to this chapter shall be 
considered by and acted upon by the approval body with authority to approve the housing 
development and subject to the same administrative appeal procedure, if any, as more particularly 
described in Chapter 17.12 of this code. The city shall notify the applicant for a density bonus 
whether the application is complete in a manner consistent with Section 65943 of the Government 
Code . The application shall be processed in the same timeframes as applicable to the underlying 
development approval. In accordance with state law, neither the granting of a concession, 
incentive, waiver, or modification nor the granting of a density bonus shall be interpreted, in and 
of itself, to require a general plan amendment, zoning change, variance, or other discretionary 
approval. Provisions of this code governing standards of design review and/or special use permits 
that are more restrictive than, or contrary to, the provisions of this chapter shall be inapplicable to 
an application for density bonus. 
    C.   For housing developments requesting a waiver, modification or reduction of a development 
standard, an application pursuant to this subsection shall be heard in conjunction with the 
application for density bonus in accordance with Chapter 17.12 of this municipal code. A public 
hearing shall be held by the planning commission and the commission shall issue a determination. 
Pursuant to Section 65915 of the Government Code , the planning commission shall approve the 
requested waiver/modification or reduction of development standards, unless one of the following 
conditions applies: 
    1.   The development standards subject to the waiver/modification do not have the effect of 
physically precluding the construction of the housing development meeting the criteria in Section 
17.50.030(A) at the densities or with the concessions or incentives permitted pursuant to this 
chapter. 
    2.   The waiver/modification will have a specific adverse impact. 
    D.  The decision of the city planning commission may be appealed to the city council in 
accordance with Chapter 17.12. Notice of any city determination pursuant to this section shall be 
provided to the same extent as required for the underlying development approval.  
  

17.50.130 Density bonus housing agreements. 
    A.  In General. As a condition to approval of any density bonus pursuant to this chapter, the 
applicant shall agree to enter into a density bonus housing agreement with the city, which 
agreement shall be binding upon the applicant and all successors in interest. The form of the 
density bonus housing agreement will vary, depending on the manner in which the provisions of 
this chapter are satisfied for a particular development. The agreement shall be recorded as a 
restriction on the parcel or parcels on which the affordable units and the density bonus units will 
be constructed. The approval and recordation of the agreement shall take place prior to final map 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=chapter_17.12&confidence=8
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=chapter_17.12&confidence=8
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=chapter_17.12&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_130


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

approval, or, where a map is not being processed, prior to issuance of building permits for such 
parcels or units. The agreement must include, at minimum, all of the information required for the 
initial application as set forth in Section 17.50.120(A). 
    B.   Density Bonus Housing Agreements for Ownership Units. In the case of housing 
developments consisting of ownership units, the density bonus housing agreement must provide 
the following additional conditions governing the sale and use of affordable units during the 
applicable affordability restriction period: 
    1.   Affordable units shall be sold or resold only to very low income households, lower income 
households, or moderate income households in a common interest development, at an affordable 
ownership cost as defined by this chapter. 
    2.   Affordable units shall be owner-occupied by very low or lower income households, or by 
moderate income households within a common interest development. 
    3.   Any conditions as necessary or directed by the city council (or other such governing body 
in the case of the redevelopment agency or housing authority) for the subordination or 
prioritization of liens or mortgages upon the parcel underlying the owner-occupied affordable 
unit(s). 
    4.   The purchaser of each affordable unit shall execute a deed instrument approved by the city, 
which instrument shall restrict the sale of the affordable unit in accordance with this chapter during 
the applicable affordability restriction period. Such instrument shall be recorded against the parcel 
containing the affordable unit and shall contain such provisions as the city may require to ensure 
continued compliance with this chapter and with Section 65915 of the Government Code. With 
respect to moderate income affordable units, the instrument or agreement shall provide for equity-
sharing as set forth in Section 17.50.030(C)(2) of this code and Section 65915 of the Government 
Code. The deed restrictions required for affordable units shall specify that the title to the subject 
property shall only be transferred with prior written approval by the city. 
    5.   Equity-sharing agreements shall be secured by a deed of trust insured by a title insurance 
policy in favor of the City and paid for by the property owner. Owner shall execute such other 
documents as reasonably required by the City. 
    6.   Any additional obligations relevant to the compliance with this chapter. 
    C.   Density Bonus Housing Agreements for Rental Units. In the case of housing developments 
consisting of rental units, the density bonus housing agreement must provide the following 
additional conditions governing the use of affordable units during the affordability restriction 
period: 
    1.   Specific property management procedures for qualifying and documenting tenant income 
eligibility, establishing affordable rent and maintaining affordable units for qualified tenants. 
    2.   Provisions requiring owners or managers of the housing development to verify household 
incomes for all tenants in affordable units and maintain books and records to demonstrate 
compliance with this chapter. 
    3.   Provisions requiring owners or managers of the housing development to submit an annual 
report to the city, which includes the name(s), address, and income of each household occupying 
affordable units, and which identifies the bedroom size and monthly rent or cost of each affordable 
unit. 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.120&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

    4.   Provisions describing the amount of, and timing for payment of, administrative fees to be 
paid to the city for the on-going compliance monitoring of the provisions of this chapter pursuant 
to Section 17.50.140. 
    5.   Any conditions as necessary or directed by the city council (or other such governing body 
in the case of the redevelopment agency or housing authority) for the subordination or 
prioritization of liens or mortgages upon the parcel underlying the tenant-occupied affordable 
units. 
    6.   The property owner of each for-rent housing development containing affordable units shall 
execute a deed instrument approved by the city, which instrument shall restrict the leasing of the 
affordable unit in accordance with this chapter during the applicable affordability restriction 
period. Such instrument shall be recorded against the parcel containing the affordable units and 
shall include the provisions of this chapter and shall provide, at a minimum, each of the following 
provisions: (a) the affordable units shall be leased to and occupied by eligible households; (b) the 
affordable units shall be leased at rent levels affordable to eligible households for the full duration 
of the affordability period; (c) subleasing of affordable units shall not be permitted without the 
express written consent of the city; and (d) title to the subject property shall only be transferred 
with prior written approval by the city. 
    7.   Any additional obligations relevant to the compliance with this chapter. 
  

17.50.140 Administrative fee. 
    An administrative fee shall be charged to the applicant for city review of all materials submitted 
in accordance with this chapter and for on-going enforcement of the provisions of this chapter. 
The fee amount shall be established by city council resolution. Fees will be charged for staff time 
and materials associated with the following activities: development review process, agreement 
drafting, project marketing and lease-up, and estimated city-incurred costs of monitoring long-
term compliance of the affordable units.  
  

17.50.150 Violations of affordable housing requirements. 
    A. In the event it is determined that rents in excess of those allowed by operation of this 
chapter have been charged to a tenant residing in a rental affordable unit, the city may take the 
appropriate legal action to recover, and the rental unit owner shall be obligated to pay to the tenant 
(or to the city in the event the tenant cannot be located), any excess rent charges. 
    B. In the event it is determined that a sales price in excess of that allowed by operation of this 
chapter has been charged to a household purchasing an owner-occupied affordable unit, the city 
may take the appropriate legal action to recover, and the affordable unit seller shall be obligated 
to pay to the purchaser (or to the city in the event the purchaser cannot be located), any excess 
sales costs. 
    C. Nothing in this section limits or waives any other remedies the city may have available to 
it in law or equity.  
  
 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?cite=section_17.50.140&confidence=6
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_140
https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_150


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

17.50.160 Effects of state law. 
    This chapter implements the laws for density bonuses and other incentive and concessions 
available to qualified applicants under Sections 65915 through 65918 of the Government Code . 
In the event these Government Code sections are amended, those amended provisions shall be 
incorporated into this chapter as if fully set forth herein. Should any inconsistencies exist between 
the amended state law and the provisions set forth in this chapter, the amended state law shall 
prevail.”  
 
 SECTION 3. The City Council hereby finds, in the exercise of its independent judgment 
and analysis, that this ordinance is exempt from CEQA under Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA 
Guidelines, which provides that CEQA only applies to projects that have the potential for causing 
a significant effect on the environment. Where, as here, it can be seen with certainty that there is 
no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment, the 
activity is not subject to CEQA.  More specifically, this Ordinance merely implements the 
requirements of state law, allowing developers to seek a density bonus pursuant to Government 
Code Section 65915.   

  
 SECTION 4. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance is 
for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of any competent 
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. 
The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this ordinance, and each and every 
section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof not declared invalid or unconstitutional 
without regard to whether any portion of the ordinance would be subsequently declared invalid or 
unconstitutional. 
 
 SECTION 5. The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this ordinance, 
and shall make a minute of the passage and adoption thereof in the records of and the proceedings 
of the City Council at which the same is passed and adopted. This ordinance shall be in full force 
and effect thirty (30) days after its final passage and adoption, and within fifteen (15) days after 
its final passage, the City Clerk shall cause it to be posted and published in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the manner required by law. 
 
 PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 5th day of October, 2020. 

 
 

 
       ______________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://qcode.us/codes/lawndale/view.php?topic=17-17_50-17_50_160
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov
https://qcode.us/codes/othercode.php?state=ca&code=gov


Ordinance No. 1175-20 
Density Bonus Update 

ATTEST: 
 
State of California  ) 
County of Los Angeles ) SS 
City of Lawndale  ) 
 
 
 
I, Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk of the City of Lawndale, California, do hereby certify 
that the City Council duly introduced the foregoing Ordinance No. 1175-20 at its regular meeting 
held on the 21st day of September, 2020, and duly approved and adopted said ordinance at its 
regular meeting held on the 5th day of October, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 
 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor       
Bernadette Suarez, Mayor Pro Tem      
James H. Osborne      
Pat Kearny       
Daniel Reid      

 
 
______________________________  ______________ 
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk    Date 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Tiffany J. Israel, City Attorney 



3











4



















































01001.0001/641151.5  

CITY OF LAWNDALE  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO RIGHT OF WAY USE AGREEMENT  

This First Amendment (“First Amendment”), dated________, 2020, is entered into 

by and between the City of Lawndale, a California municipal corporation (“City”) and 

Crown Castle Fiber LLC, a New York limited liability company (“Crown Castle” 

successor to Sunesys, LLC) for the purpose of amending the Right of Way Use Agreement 

(“Agreement”) dated October 1, 2018 by and between the City and Crown Castle’s 

predecessor, Sunesys, LLC. For purposes of this Amendment, City and Crown Castle may 

be referred to each individually as a “Party” and collectively as “the Parties.” 

 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, on October 1, 2018 the Parties entered into and executed a Right of 

Way Use Agreement to construct, install, and maintain telecommunications lines, antenna 

nodes, and related equipment to serve a telecommunications network on a portion of the 

public rights-of-way within the City; 

 

WHEREAS, as of January 1, 2019, as a result of an internal consolidation of various 

legal entities via merger, Crown Castle became responsible for all obligations of Sunesys, 

LLC., such change and conversions meeting the terms of Section 4 of the Agreement and 

not requiring the consent of City;  

WHEREAS, Section 15.6 of the Agreement contemplates allowing subsequent amendment 

to the Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties desires to amend the Agreement to allow for the 

construction, installation, and maintenance of additional facilities that occupy 

the public rights-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, for the reasons set forth herein, the Parties desire to enter into this 

First Amendment, as set forth below.  

AMENDMENT 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and undertakings of 

the parties hereinafter set forth, the parties to this License agree as follows: 

1. “Company” shall mean Sunesys, LLC and any successor entity, including 

Crown Castle. 

 

2. Paragraph 1 of Section 1 shall be replaced to read as follows; 

“City gives permission to Company to encroach over, under and along the public rights-

ofway of the Project Area for the purpose of the construction of certain communication 

lines and cables in certain public rights-of-way, which initial Project is more specifically 

described on the map attached as Exhibit A-1. The Project that is described in Exhibit A 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 77BAAF1B-210F-4D2F-ADC6-86C8AAE89C8E



01001.0001/641151.5  

may be amended and/or augmented by Company pursuant to the terms of Company's 

CPCN, and Company shall apply for the appropriate encroachment permit with the City 

in each case. Such encroachment permits, once issued, shall be deemed appended to 

Exhibit A-1 and incorporated into the Agreement without amendment or further 

modification or revision to the Agreement. In addition, Company agrees that any antenna 

or verticality installations subject to the City's Wireless Telecommunications Ordinance 

will be separately processed through the City's regulations for wireless facility installations 

in the public right-of-way. All work will be constructed and maintained at the sole cost 

and expense of Company.” 

3. Section 5 shall be amended to delete the notice information for Company 

and replace with the notice information as follows:  
 

Crown Castle Fiber LLC 

Attn: Ken Simon, General Counsel 

2000 Corporate Drive 

Canonsburg, PA 15317 

 

With a copy to:  

 

Crown Castle Fiber LLC 

Attn:  SCN Contracts Management 

2000 Corporate Drive 

Canonsburg, PA 15317 

 

4. Except as expressly amended by the terms of this First Amendment, all terms 

and provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

5. The representative for each Party signing on behalf of the respective Party 

hereby declares and represents that the signatory has authority to sign on behalf of the 

respective Party and agrees to hold the other Party or Parties hereto harmless if it is later 

determined that such authority does not exist. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 77BAAF1B-210F-4D2F-ADC6-86C8AAE89C8E



01001.0001/641151.5  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first 

written above. 

 

 CITY OF LAWNDALE  

a municipal corporation 

By:   

Mayor 

 ATTEST: 

Date:    

City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP 

  

Tiffany J. Israel, City Attorney 

 

 CROWN CASTLE FIBER LLC 

a New York limited liability company 

Date:  By:  

Title:  

 By:  

Title:  

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 77BAAF1B-210F-4D2F-ADC6-86C8AAE89C8E

Director West Region

8/17/2020 | 11:15:07 AM EDT

Fiber Contract Specialist 



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 77BAAF1B210F4D2FADC686C8AAE89C8E Status: Completed

Subject: Please DocuSign: Lawndale CA First Amendment for Fiber RUA - (CCF) - 081720.pdf

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 3 Signatures: 2 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 4 Initials: 0 SelenaBeaver

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada)

2000 Corporate Dr

Canonsburg, PA  15317

Selena.Beaver@crowncastle.com

IP Address: 64.213.130.12  

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             8/17/2020 9:47:10 AM

Holder: SelenaBeaver

             Selena.Beaver@crowncastle.com

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Angela McIntyre

Angela.McIntyre@crowncastle.com

Director West Region

Crown Castle

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 68.107.177.147

Sent: 8/17/2020 9:49:08 AM

Viewed: 8/17/2020 11:14:52 AM 

Signed: 8/17/2020 11:15:07 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 8/17/2020 11:14:52 AM
      ID: aa86cef1-d4e1-4161-b1e8-098e5953c865

SelenaBeaver

selena.beaver@crowncastle.com

Fiber Contract Specialist

Crown Castle

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 64.213.130.12

Sent: 8/17/2020 9:52:53 AM

Viewed: 8/17/2020 9:53:21 AM 

Signed: 8/17/2020 9:53:47 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp

Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 8/17/2020 9:52:53 AM

Certified Delivered Security Checked 8/17/2020 11:14:52 AM



Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Signing Complete Security Checked 8/17/2020 11:15:07 AM

Completed Security Checked 8/17/2020 11:15:07 AM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE  
In order to provide more efficient and faster service, Crown Castle (“we”, “us” or “company”) is pleased to announce 
the use of DocuSign, Inc. (“DocuSign”) electronic signing system. The terms for providing such documents for 
execution and various other documents and records to you electronically through DocuSign are set forth below. 
Please read the information below carefully and if you can satisfactorily access this information electronically and 
agree to these terms, please confirm your agreement by clicking the “I agree” button at the bottom of this document.  
Getting paper copies  
At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any document for execution or other document or record 
provided or made available electronically to you by us. You will be able to download and print documents we send to 
you through the DocuSign system during and immediately after each signing session and, if you elect to create a 
DocuSign signer account, you may access them for a limited period of time thereafter. To request paper copies of 
documents previously provided by us to you electronically, send an e-mail to esignature@CrownCastle.com, 
requesting the subject paper copies and stating your e-mail address, name, US Postal address and telephone 
number.  
Withdrawing your consent to receive and/or execute documents electronically  
If you elect to receive documents for execution and various other documents and records from us electronically, you 
may at any time change your mind and tell us that thereafter you want to receive such documents only in paper 
format. To withdraw your consent to electronic delivery and execution of documents, use the DocuSign 'Withdraw 
Consent' form on the signing page of a DocuSign envelope, instead of signing it. Thereafter, you will no longer be 
able to use the DocuSign system to electronically receive and execute documents or other records from us. You may 
also send an e-mail to esignature@CrownCastle.com stating that you are withdrawing your consent to electronic 
delivery and execution of documents through the DocuSign system and stating your e-mail address, name, US Postal 
Address, and telephone number.  
Consequences of withdrawing consent to receive and/or execute documents electronically  
If you elect to receive documents for execution and various other documents and other records only in paper format, 
it will slow the speed at which we can complete the subject transactions because of the increased delivery time.  
Documents for execution, and other documents and records may be sent to you electronically  
Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we may provide documents for 
execution, and other documents and records electronically to you through the DocuSign system during the course of 
our relationship with you. To reduce the chance of you inadvertently not receiving any document for execution or 
other document or record, we prefer to provide all documents for execution, and other documents and records by the 
same method and to the same address that you have given us. If you do not agree with this process, please let us 
know as described below.  
How to contact Crown Castle  
You may contact us to let us know of any changes related to contacting you electronically, to request paper copies of 
documents for execution and other documents and records from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to receive 
documents for execution and other documents and records electronically as follows:  
 
To contact us by phone call: 724-416-2000 
To contact us by email, send messages to: esignature@CrownCastle.com 
To contact us by paper mail, send correspondence to 
    Crown Castle  
    2000 Corporate Drive 
    Canonsburg, PA 15317  
To advise Crown Castle and DocuSign of your new e-mail address  
To let us know of a change to the e-mail address where we should send documents for execution and other 
documents and records to you, you must send an email message to esignature@CrownCastle.com and state your 
previous e-mail address and your new e-mail address.  
 
In addition, you must notify DocuSign, Inc. to arrange for your new email address to be reflected in your DocuSign 
account by following the process for changing e-mail in the DocuSign system.  
Required hardware and software  

Browsers: 
Internet Explorer® 11 (Windows only); Windows Edge Current Version; Mozilla Firefox Current 
Version; Safari™ (Mac OS only) 6.2 or above; Google Chrome Current Version; Note : Pre-

release (e.g., beta) versions of operating systems and browsers are not supported. 

Mobile Signing: Apple iOS 7.0 or above; Android 4.0 or above 

PDF Reader: Acrobat® Reader or similar software may be required to view and print PDF files 

Screen 
Resolution: 

1024 x 768 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 1/30/2020 11:53:49 AM
Parties agreed to: Angela McIntyre

mailto:esignature@CrownCastle.com
mailto:esignature@CrownCastle.com
mailto:esignature@CrownCastle.com
mailto:esignature@CrownCastle.com


Enabled 
Security 
Settings: 

Allow per session cookies 

These minimum requirements are subject to change. If these requirements change, you will be asked to re-accept the 
disclosure. Pre-release (e.g. beta) versions of operating systems and browsers are not supported.  
Acknowledging your access and consent to receive documents electronically  
Please confirm that you were able to access this disclosure electronically (which is similar to the manner in which we 
will deliver documents for execution and other documents and records) and that you were able to print this disclosure 
on paper or electronically save it for your future reference and access or that you were able to e-mail this disclosure 
to an address where you will be able to print it on paper or save it for your future reference and access. Further, if you 
consent to receiving documents for execution and other documents and records in electronic format on the terms 
described above, please let us know by clicking the “I agree” button below.  
By checking the 'I agree' box, I confirm that:  

 You can access and read this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure; and 

 As a recipient, you can read, electronically sign and act upon this message, and you agree not to forward it 
or any other DocuSign e-mail communications. In the event another party needs to be added to the 
DocuSign communication, you must make a request to the e-mail originator. 



5

































6





Claims and Demands Paid By Check:

Check Date Beginning Ending Aggregate Total
9/17/2020 200249 200263 47,334.54
9/24/2020 200264 200296 133,905.97

Total Checks 181,240.51

Claims and Demands Paid By Electronic ACH Transfer:

Date Name of Payee Description Amount

Total ACH Payments 0.00

Total Audited Claims and Demands Paid 181,240.51

City of Lawndale
Summary of Audited Claims and Demands

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Check Number



City of Lawndale

Check Register Report

Check DateCheck Number Status Amount

BANK: 

Vendor Number Vendor Name Check Description

WELLS FARGO BANK N.A 1Page:
 9:33 amTime:

09/24/2020Date:

Void/Stop Date

WELLS FARGO BANK N.A Checks

55,496.68LEGAL SERVICESALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP1541Printed09/24/2020200264
815.00QUARTERLY PEST CONTROLAMERICAN STRUCTURAL PEST4185-WESTPrinted09/24/2020200265

1,845.99PHONE CHARGESAT & T - CALNET30372CPrinted09/24/2020200266
14.78COPIES OF PLANSBLUEPRINT SERVICE7382Printed09/24/2020200267
50.00PRSSC MEETING STIPENDCHRISTINA CARROLL 7223Printed09/24/2020200268

2,305.77EMPLOYEE PURCHASED INSURANCECOLONIAL LIFE & ACCIDENTS, INC0190Printed09/24/2020200269
3,854.83INDUSTRIAL WASTE SERVICESCOUNTY OF LA DEPT OF PUBLIC WK0219Printed09/24/2020200270
2,739.88DENTAL INSURANCE PREMIUMSDELTA DENTAL0216Printed09/24/2020200271

147.91DENTAL PREMIUMDELTA DENTAL INS0389Printed09/24/2020200272
14.46IRRIGATION PARTSEWING IRRIGATION PRODUCTS INC1288Printed09/24/2020200273

16,576.63WATER USAGE SERVICESGOLDEN STATE WATER CO.0441Printed09/24/2020200274
33.00IRRIGATION PARTSGREENLAND SUPPLY INC. 6231Printed09/24/2020200275
50.00PRSSC MEETING STIPENDERICA HARBISON 4796Printed09/24/2020200276

255.00CONST&DEMO DEBRIS DEP REFUNDPAUL JORDAN 7651Printed09/24/2020200277
7,181.50EMPLOYEE INVESTIGATIONLIEBERT CASSIDY WHITMORE0325Printed09/24/2020200278

12,567.50PROFESSIONAL SERVICESMICHAEL BAKER INTL, INC 6445Printed09/24/2020200279
323.65CREDIT MEMOOFFICE DEPOT0367Printed09/24/2020200280

7,200.00PARS FEESPARS3781Printed09/24/2020200281
153.52REFUND OF PERMIT FEESALFONZO PLASCENCIA 7652Printed09/24/2020200282
116.76BATTERY FOR PW VEHICLEPOWERSTRIDE BATTERY5216Printed09/24/2020200283
172.87UNIFORMS-PUBLIC WORKS MAINTENAPRUDENTIAL OVERALL SUPPLY6123Printed09/24/2020200284
169.51D & G SANDRJS CONSTRUCTION SUPPLIES 6499Printed09/24/2020200285
50.00PRSSC MEETING STIPENDSHIRLEY RUDOLPH 6698Printed09/24/2020200286

1,233.12BOOTS FOR PW CREWSHOETERIA1071Printed09/24/2020200287
50.00PRSSC METING STIPENDMADONNA SITKA 2051Printed09/24/2020200288

17,575.00LANDSCAPING MAINTENANCE SERVICSOUTH BAY LANDSCAPING INC4533Printed09/24/2020200289
1,242.50EMERGENCY REPAIRSSOUTH COAST MECHANICAL INC6034Printed09/24/2020200290

38.25UTILITY GAS CHARGESSOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS CO.0440Printed09/24/2020200291
540.08LEGAL ADSSOUTHERN CALIFORNIA NEWS GROUP0211Printed09/24/2020200292
25.02M2M SHARE DATA LINEVERIZON WIRELESS3373Printed09/24/2020200293

983.49VISION PREMIUMVISION SERVICE PLAN0479Printed09/24/2020200294
33.27GRAFFITI SUPPLIESVISTA PAINT0480Printed09/24/2020200295
50.00PRSSC MEETING STIPENDDANIEL T WOODS 6697Printed09/24/2020200296

133,905.97Checks Total (excluding void checks):33Total Checks:

133,905.97Bank Total (excluding void checks):33Total Payments:

Grand Total (excluding void checks):Total Payments: 33 133,905.97



City of Lawndale

Check Register Report

Check Number Check Date Status Amount

BANK: 

Vendor Number Vendor Name Check Description

WELLS FARGO BANK N.A 1Page:
 7:49 amTime:

09/17/2020Date:

Void/Stop Date

WELLS FARGO BANK N.A Checks
595.427587Printed09/17/2020200249

8,545.926092Printed09/17/2020200250
5,000.007562Printed09/17/2020200251

493.657650Printed09/17/2020200252
10,748.150308Printed09/17/2020200253
1,146.860367Printed09/17/2020200254
1,039.005068APrinted09/17/2020200255

712.165068Printed09/17/2020200256
666.285895Printed09/17/2020200257

14,315.000435Printed09/17/2020200258
1,132.340211Printed09/17/2020200259

455.280346Printed09/17/2020200260
381.363672-ASDPrinted09/17/2020200261

1,646.533672-PWDPrinted09/17/2020200262
456.59

REFUND FOR PLANNING DEPOSIT 
STREET LITTER CONTAINERS
PW DIRECTOR RECRUITMENT 
REFUND OF PLANNING DEPOSIT
SLA - FIREWORKS SUPPRESSION 
OFFICE SUPPLIES
POSTAGE USAGE FOR CITY HALL MAIL 
MACHINE LEASING SERVICES LEASE 
AND USAGE CHARGES FOR CO 
MEMBERSHIP DUES FOR FY 20/21 
LEGAL ADS / ELECTION ADS BOTTLED 
WATER SERVICE
CREDIT CARD PAYMENT
CREDIT CARD PAYMENT
CELL PHONE SERVICE

AMIR AZMI 
FORMS&SURFACES
KOFF & ASSOCIATES INC
WAGNER A LEMUS 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY
OFFICE DEPOT
QUADIENT FINANCE USA INC 
QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC
RICOH USA INC
SO BAY CITIES COUNCIL OF GOVTS 
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA NEWS GROUP 
SPARKLETTS
U.S. BANK 
U.S. BANK 
VERIZON WIRELESS3373Printed09/17/2020200263

47,334.54Checks Total (excluding void checks):Total Checks: 15

47,334.54Bank Total (excluding void checks):Total Payments: 15

Grand Total (excluding void checks):Total Payments: 15 47,334.54



MINUTES OF THE 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

    September 21, 2020 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Mayor Pullen-Miles called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall council chamber,
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California.

Councilmembers Present:  Mayor Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor Pro Tem Bernadette Suarez,
Councilmember James H. Osborne, Councilmember Pat Kearney, 
Councilmember Daniel Reid  

Other Participants: City Clerk Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Manager Kevin M. 
Chun, City Attorney Tiffany J. Israel, Los Angeles County 
Sheriff's Department Captain Duane Allen, Community Services 
Director Mike Estes, Assistant to the City Manager/Human 
Resources Director Raylette Felton, Municipal Services Director 
Michael Reyes, Finance Director Marla Pendleton, Community 
Development Director Sean Moore, Assistant City Clerk Matthew 
Ceballos, and Interim Public Works Director Kahono Oei. 

B. CEREMONIALS

Councilmember Daniel Reid led the flag salute.

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT

Captain Duane Allen summarized recent law enforcement activities.

D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

• Pam London, Resident, spoke about administrative fee changes and recent shooting incidents in
Lawndale.  Ms. London went on to speak about Employment Development Department (EDD)
fraud in the city.

E. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL

No comments provided.

F. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. Motion to read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on the
Agenda
Recommendation: that the City Council approve.

2. Biennial Review of the City’s Conflict of Interest Code-Amendment
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2009-050, approving
revisions to the City’s Conflict of Interest Code to reflect clean-up, recent staffing, and/or
role changes in the City Clerk’s, Community Services, Finance, Municipal Services and
Public Works Departments. 7



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 21, 2020 
Page 2 

3. Youth Advisory Committee Term Extensions
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2009-051, extending
the terms of the current Youth Advisory Committee members, Kaleb Hafner and Octavio
Mendoza for one year, effective October 1, 2020 through September 30, 2021, and Soraya
Whaley for two years, effective October 1, 2020 through September 30, 2022.

4. Park Development Fee Disclosure Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Recommendation: that the City Council receive and file the report.

5. Accounts Payable Register
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2009-049, authorizing
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $108,826.37.

6. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – September 8, 2020
Recommendation: that the City Council approve.

Councilmember Kearney inquired about the check amount of $9,638.00 to Liebert Cassidy 
Whitmore in item number 5, Accounts Payable Register. Finance Director Marla Pendleton and 
Assistant to the City Manager/Human Resources Director Raylette Felton responded 
accordingly. 

A motion by Councilmember Kearney to approve the consent calendar was seconded by 
Councilmember Reid and carried by a vote of 5-0. 

G. PUBLIC HEARING

7. Animal Licensing Fee Update
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) conducts a public hearing to receive
testimony regarding dog licensing fee increases; (b) and adopt Resolution No. CC-2009-
052.

Municipal Services Director Michael Reyes reported on the proposed Animal Licensing Fee 
Update. 

Mayor Pullen-Miles opened the Public Hearing at 6:42 p.m. 

Public Testimony 

Pam London, Resident, provided testimony about the necessity of updated fees, unwanted pet 
births, and also requested licensing for cats. 

Mayor Pullen-Miles closed the Public Hearing at 6:45 p.m. 

Mayor Pullen-Miles requested clarification on the fee increase. Director Michael Reyes 
responded accordingly. 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 21, 2020 
Page 3 
 
 

Finance Director Marla Pendleton informed the Council that the City has put out a Request for 
Proposals for a City-Wide Fee study and will begin next fiscal year.  
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles inquired as to how many dogs are permitted in one household. Director 
Michael Reyes responded that a household could have up to four dogs. 
 
A motion by Councilmember Reid to adopt Resolution No. CC-2009-052, updating the 
Animal Licensing Fees, was seconded by Councilmember Kearney and carried by a vote of 
5-0. 
 
8. Amending Lawndale Municipal Code  Chapter 17.50, Density Bonus Provisions  

for Residential Units 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) conduct a public hearing (b) determine that 
Ordinance No. 1175-20 is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines; and (c) introduce 
and approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1175-20, an Ordinance Amending the 
Lawndale Municipal Code, Chapter 17.50, regarding density bonus standards for 
affordable residential units to reflect recent changes in state law 

  
Community Development Director Sean Moore reported on the proposed amendment of 
Lawndale Municipal Code Chapter 17.50, Density Bonus Provisions for Residential Units 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles opened and closed the public hearing immediately at 6:52 p.m., there being 
no one wishing to testify. 
 
Councilmember Kearney inquired how likely it was that a developer will build a homeless shelter 
in the City of Lawndale. Community Development Director Sean Moore responded a homeless 
shelter would need to be reviewed and approved by a separate provision.   
 
A motion by Councilmember Reid to approve Ordinance No. 1175-20, Amending the 
Lawndale Municipal Code, Chapter 17.50, regarding density bonus standards for 
affordable residential units to reflect recent changes in state law was seconded by 
Councilmember Kearney and carried by a vote of 5-0, following City Attorney Israel's 
reading of the title of Ordinance No.  1175-20. 

 
H. ADMINISTRATION 
 

9. Establishing Administrative Citation Fees 
Recommendation: that the City Council adopts Resolution No. CC-2009-053,

 Establishing Administrative Citation Fees. 
 

Municipal Services Director Michael Reyes reported on the proposed adoption of Resolution No. 
CC-2009-053, Establishing Administrative Citation Fees. 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Suarez inquired if warnings will be given prior to citations being issued. 
Municipal Services Director Michael Reyes affirmatively that noticing would be required in code 
cases involving property owners prior to the issuing of citations. 

  



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 21, 2020 
Page 4 
 
 

Public Comment 
 

Randall Abram, Resident, spoke in favor of approving the Resolution and spoke about the need 
for a yearly property inspection program for the city. 

 
Pam London, Resident, spoke about the need for a Rental Property Inspection Program for 
maintenance issues on properties in Lawndale. 
 
Councilmember Kearney inquired about if citations and notices would go to the renter or property 
owner, City Attorney Tiffany J. Israel responded accordingly.  

 
A motion by Councilmember Kearney to adopt Resolution No. CC-2009-053, establishing 
Administrative Citation Fees, was seconded by Mayor Robert Pullen-Miles and carried by 
a vote of 5-0. 

 
10. Amending Lawndale Municipal Code Sections 8.24.115 and 8.24.200, Providing  

Authority for Recovery of Attorney’s Fees and Imposition of Treble Damages in 
Public Nuisance Abatement Actions 
Recommendation: that the City Council introduce and approve the first reading of 
Ordinance 1176-20, Amending Lawndale Municipal Code Sections 8.24.115 and 
8.24.200, Providing Authority for Recovery of Attorney’s Fees and Imposition of Treble 
Damages in Public Nuisance Abatement Actions. 
 

City Attorney Tiffany J. Israel reported on the proposed amendment of Lawndale Municipal 
Code Sections 8.24.115 and 8.24.200, Providing Authority for Recovery of Attorney’s Fees and 
Imposition of Treble Damages in Public Nuisance Abatement Actions. 

 
Mayor Pullen Miles inquired as to what the difference was with Public Nuisance and Code 
Violation.  City Attorney Tiffany J. Israel responded that a Public Nuisance is defined as a health 
and safety violation for property violations, where the issues may be dangerous to live in or near 
the property.  

 
Mayor Pro Tem Suarez inquired if this is applied to the property owner or the property.  City 
Attorney Tiffany J. Israel responded a new buyer or owner of the property would not qualify and 
the process would need to restart. 

 
A motion by Councilmember Reid to approve Ordinance No. 1176-20, Amending Lawndale 
Municipal Code Sections 8.24.115 and 8.24.200, Providing Authority for Recovery of 
Attorney’s Fees and Imposition of Treble Damages in Public Nuisance Abatement Actions 
was seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Suarez and carried by a vote of 5-0, following City 
Attorney Israel's reading of the title of Ordinance No.  1176-20 
 
11. Cancellation of the Annual Halloween Haunt Event 

Recommendation: that the City Council cancel the upcoming Halloween Haunt event 
scheduled for Saturday, October 31, 2020, from 4:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. at the Lawndale 
Civic Center Plaza. 
 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 21, 2020 
Page 5 
 
 

Community Services Director Mike Estes reported on the Cancellation of the Annual Halloween 
Haunt Event. 

 
The Council reached a unanimous consensus to cancel the upcoming Halloween Haunt 
event scheduled for Saturday, October 31, 2020, from 4:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. at the 
Lawndale Civic Center Plaza. 

 
12. Award of Construction Contract to Shawnan for Inglewood Ave. Phase I Street   

Improvement Project 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) authorize the Director of Finance to transfer 
$46,410 (Prop C Funds) from Phase II (207-310-700.150) to Phase I (207-310-700.151) 
of the Inglewood Avenue Street Improvement Project, if approved by the Program 
Administrator; (b) approve and authorize the Director of Finance to increase 
appropriations from the 2009 TAB Fund in the amount of $215,123 (307-610-700.151) 
for the project totaling $481,468. Increase appropriation another $46,410 in the 2009 
TAB Fund, if the Program Administrator disallows moving Prop C money as outlined in 
recommendation “(a)” above (i.e., $481,468 + $46,410 = $527,878); (c) award a 
construction contract in the amount of $1,177,400.00 to Shawnan for the project with a 
ten percent (10%) contingency of $117,740 if necessary to avoid project delays and 
facilitate timely project completion. 

   
Interim Public Works Director Kahono Oei reported on the Award of Construction Contract to 
Shawnan for Inglewood Ave. Phase I Street Improvement Project. 
 
Councilmember Reid inquired about the uneven concrete and asphalt on Marine Avenue and 
152nd Street.  Interim Public Works Director Kahono Oei responded that the concrete will not be 
removed and they will grind the asphalt to ensure it keeps level. 
 
A motion by Councilmember Kearney to authorize the Director of Finance to transfer 
$46,410 (Prop C Funds) from Phase II (207-310-700.150) to Phase I (207-310-700.151) of 
the Inglewood Avenue Street Improvement Project, if approved by the Program 
Administrator; approve and authorize the Director of Finance to increase appropriations 
from the 2009 TAB Fund in the amount of $215,123 (307-610-700.151) for the project 
totaling $481,468. Increase appropriation another $46,410 in the 2009 TAB Fund, if the 
Program Administrator disallows moving Prop C money as outlined in recommendation 
“(a)” above (i.e., $481,468 + $46,410 = $527,878); award a construction contract in the 
amount of $1,177,400.00 to Shawnan for the project with a ten percent (10%) contingency 
of $117,740 if necessary to avoid project delays and facilitate timely project completion, 
was seconded by Councilmember Reid and carried by a vote of 5-0. 
 

I. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
City Manager Kevin Chun announced that City facilities opened today by appointment only.  
City Manager Chun spoke about Clean-up week event of bulky items on trash day only, the City 
teaming up with UCLA for a blood drive on October 6, 2020 and went on to commend all staff 
who participated in the development of today’s agenda and meeting.  

  



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 21, 2020 
Page 6 
 
 
J. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 

 
13. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 
Councilmember Osborne had nothing to repot.  
 
Councilmember Reid attended the Contract Cities meeting which covered the loss of local control 
issues. 

 
Councilmember Kearney attended the Sherriff’s Liability Trust and Oversight Committee 
meeting via-zoom. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Suarez attended South Bay Cities Council of Government steering Committee. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles attended Sanitation District Board of Directors meeting and South Bay 
Association of Realtors Mayors’ panel where COVID-19 related issues in neighboring Cities 
were discussed. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles spoke of an increase of illegally dumped large items throughout the City and 
requested staff increase ride arounds to mitigate the items dumped on the street.  City Manager 
Kevin Chun responded that he would remind staff to be on the lookout and pick up illegal dumped 
items around the City. 
 

K. CLOSED SESSION 
 
At 7:38 p.m. the City Council entered into closed session.  
 
14. Conference with Labor Negotiator 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54957.6, with the City Manager, the City Attorney and the City's Negotiators, regarding 
labor negotiations with Local 1895, Council 36, American Federation of State, County 
and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, representing the City's mid-management and 
classified employees. 
 

15. Public Employee Performance Evaluation 
The City Council will hold a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54957(b), to conduct an employee evaluation concerning the City Manager. 
 

At 8:30 p.m. the City Council entered back into open session. 
 
City Attorney Tiffany Israel reported the City Council met in Closed Session to discuss the 
two items listed on the Closed Session agenda. The City Council was updated on both items 
and there was no reportable action taken. 
 

L. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to conduct, the Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8:31 p.m. 

 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 21, 2020 
Page 7 

_________________________________ 
Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk 

Approved: 10/05/2020 



8























































9







Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations 1 

RESOLUTION NO. CC-2010-055 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA ADOPTING  

COUNCIL POLICY NO. 104-20, SETTING FORTH THE CITY’S NEW  
HAROLD E. HOFMANN COMMUNITY CENTER  

FACILITIES RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lawndale (“City”) has established a Council Policy 
Manual to set forth and identify policies of the City Council, which may not otherwise be established in 
ordinances of the City, or which are restated to further amplify existing City policy; and  
 

WHEREAS, all policies included in the Council Policy Manual are adopted by resolution; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to amend the Council Policy Manual to add Council 
Policy No. 104-20 “Harold E. Hofmann Community Center Facilities Rules and Regulations” as a new 
and stand-alone policy setting forth rules and regulations for the use, payment and operation of the rooms 
available for reservation at the Harold E. Hofmann Community Center.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA, 
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the City Council hereby approves the adoption of new Policy No. 104-20 
“Harold E, Hofmann Community Center Facilities Rules and Regulations” attached hereto and incorporated 
as Exhibit “A”, and directs City staff to include said policy in the Council Policy Manual, as may be 
amended from time to time. 
 
 SECTION 2: This resolution shall take effect as of the date of its passing and adoption. 
 
 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of October, 2020. 
 
 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 
  



Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations 2 

ATTEST: 
 
State of California  ) 
County of Los Angeles ) SS 
City of Lawndale  ) 
 
I, Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk of the City of Lawndale, California, do hereby certify that the City 
Council of the City of Lawndale duly approved and adopted the foregoing Resolution No. CC-2010-055 at 
a regular meeting of said Council held on the 5th day of October, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor      
James H. Osborne, Mayor Pro Tem      
Pat Kearney      
Daniel Reid       
Bernadette Suarez      

 
 
_______________________________ 
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Tiffany J. Israel, City Attorney 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 1 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

SUBJECT:  
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center Facilities 
Use Rules and Regulations 

POLICY NO.:  104-20 DATE ADOPTED: 
a)  10/05/20 

AUTHORITY: 
a) Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
 

 
PURPOSE:  

This policy establishes the rules and guidelines for the permitted use of the Harold E. Hofmann 
Community Center, which includes the following reservation spaces: (i) Main Event Room (both ii and 
iii), (ii) Main Event Room A (half of i), (iii) Main Event Room B (half of i), (iv) Meeting Room (both v 
and vi), (v) Meeting Room 1 (half of iv), and (vi) Meeting Room 2 (half of iv).  Please note that when 
one half of the Main Event Room, either A or B, is reserved, the opposite half of the Main Event Room 
is not available for use by another reservation group.  Similarly, if one half of the Meeting Room, either 
1 or 2, is reserved, the opposite half of the Meeting Room is not available for use by another reservation 
group, as the two halves of each of this room may not be used by two different groups at the same time, 
nor will reservation periods be allowed to overlap.  

POLICY: 

GENERAL PROVISIONS: 

Application Required: 

Each room reservation application must be submitted in person at the Harold E. Hofmann Community 
Center on Monday through Thursday, excluding City holidays, from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with proof 
that the applicable Non-Refundable Room Reservation Deposit has been paid as described in “Payment 
Procedures” on page 6 of this policy. Applications will not be accepted by facsimile, email, or US mail 
(please see exception below).  Each Facility Reservation Application must be signed by the primary 
applicant who must be at least 18 years old at the time the application is submitted. All applications must 
be submitted sufficiently in advance of the reservation date to allow the City adequate processing time 
and to ensure proper staffing. 

Exception: An entity that qualifies for a “Waiver of Fees” (see Page 8) may email, fax, mail or hand 
deliver its application to the City.  However, an entity desiring a fee waiver must first check with the 
City to confirm its eligibility for a fee waiver prior to applying under this exception. 

Issuance of Permit:  

Facility use permits will be issued by Community Services Department staff once all fees have been paid 
in full and all required documentation has been received. For self-insured user groups, use permits will 
not be issued until the required insurance documentation has been received and approved by the City.  



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 2 

Extended use permits may not exceed a period of three calendar months unless approved in writing by 
the City Manager or his/her designee.  Each City facility may only be used for the specific purpose 
identified in the Application for Facility Use.  

 
 
Commercial Activities and Fundraising Prohibited: 

Because of the high demand for use of the City’s facilities, priority for the use of City facilities is given 
to uses benefiting the community.  For public safety reasons, the use of City facilities for commercial 
gain, such as events at which fees are collected for admission, or memberships, or at which any type of 
equipment, services, and/or goods are sold or offered for sale is strictly prohibited.  Only non-profit 
501(c)(3) corporations, and governmental entities may host events for fundraising purposes, including 
raffles, and this may only occur if all event tickets are sold off-site – no sale or offer for sale of event 
tickets, products, or may occur on City property.  In addition, the intent to include fundraising elements 
must be included in the reservation permit approving the event.  A reservation/event may be cancelled 
without refund for violation of this regulation.  

Event Advertising by Applicant: 

Once a use permit has been issued to an applicant, no one advertising such event, whether on social 
media, via flyers or other means of advertising, may falsely advertise the event or include event specifics 
that are not compliant with this policy, such as advertising admission costs or prohibited activities.  If 
event specifics are advertised that are in direct violation of this policy the City may cancel that permit 
which will result in the permittee forfeiting all reservation fees, security deposits, and any other fees that 
have been paid to date.    

Event Termination and Consequences of Violating Laws & Rules: 

If any law, rule, or permit condition is found to have been violated, event security and staff will 
immediately terminate the event and all fees and deposits will be deemed forfeited.  In addition, 
the applicant and any other known participating violators will be permanently banned from 
obtaining reservation permits for any City facility.  Anyone who commits a crime in this facility 
has a lifetime ban from the facility. 

When Facilities May Be Used: 

The Harold E. Hofmann Community Center is not available for reservations on City-observed holidays.  
It is otherwise available for reservations: 

Sunday through Thursday: 9:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. 
Friday and Saturday:  10:00 a.m. to 12:00 a.m. 

Should you or your guests fail to leave the reserved room and/or facility before the conclusion of your 
reservation time and/or the facility closure time (listed above), or within 15 minutes of the facility closure 
time, additional fees will be charged to you which may be deducted from your security deposit. 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 3 

Use of the Platform Stage in the Main Event Room: 

The platform stage may be used as part of any reservation of the full Main Event Room or Main Event 
Room B; however, is not included for reservations of Main Event Room A. The platform stage may be 
used for various purposes such as for a head table, disc jockey, or live music.  

 

Use of the Main Event Room Kitchen: 

An applicant reserving the kitchen receives access to the following amenities: one refrigerator designated 
by staff, all sinks and countertops, stove, oven, griddle and ice machine.  Amenities NOT included in 
the reservation of the kitchen include: the microwave, dishwasher, garbage disposal, coffee 
machine, storage closets, freezers and lockers. 

Conditions of Use for Main Event Room(s) and Meeting Room(s): 

Other than an organization receiving a waiver of fees, the minimum reservation time is four hours 
including one hour for both set-up and clean-up activities.    

Events in the Main Event Room or Main Event Room A or B must end at least 60 minutes before the 
permit end time to allow adequate cleanup time.  In addition, all guests, unless participating in event 
cleanup operations, must depart the facility at least 60 minutes before the permit end time.   

Events in the full Meeting Room must end at least 45 minutes prior to the permit end time to allow for 
adequate cleanup time.  Events in Meeting Room 1 or 2 must end at least 30 minutes prior to the permit 
end time to allow for adequate cleanup time.  This requires all guests to depart the facility no less than 
45 minutes prior to the permit end time for events in the full Meeting Room and 30 minutes prior to the 
permit end time for events in Meeting Room 1 or 2 to allow the cleanup to occur.   

If any applicant or their guest(s) remain in any reservation space beyond the permit end time or in the 
parking garage for more than 15 minutes beyond the permit end time additional fees will be assessed to 
cover the City’s staff costs to ensure that the premises have been vacated.   

General Reservation Policies: 

No permit holder or event attendee may remove, relocate, or take any indoor City property or fixture to 
another part of the facility or outside of the Community Center for any reason.   

No applicant may sublet any portion of the City facility rented from the City. 

The permit holder must immediately report all personal injuries and damages sustained during use of a 
City facility to the City staff supervising the facility. 

Individuals who damage property or display conduct that is potentially harmful to others shall vacate the 
City facility immediately upon request by City staff, event security or event permittee. 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 4 

No suggestion of City sponsorship or endorsement of an event or use of a facility may be made without 
prior written approval of the City Council.  

Other than guide dogs and service animals, no animals may enter a City building. 

Signage such as posters, flyers and other forms of advertising for events not sponsored by the City shall 
not be posted or displayed on the Community Center’s interior and/or exterior walls.   However, free 
standing A-Frame sign(s), or similar, may be used to advertise an event that is permitted at the 
Community Center 30 minutes prior to that event’s start time until 15 minutes after the event’s approved 
end time. 

Because minor children can have visual if not physical access to any event held at the Community Center, 
adult uses are not allowed. 

Event security and/or City staff will close all external room doors at 10:00 p.m. to prevent events from 
disturbing the neighbors.  In addition, the City will also monitor the decibel level of any recorded or live 
music being played to prevent disturbing the neighbors during the reservation.  Permittees must comply 
with instructions from event security and City staff regarding allowed decibels for any amplified sound.  

Alcoholic beverages and all forms of gambling (including bingo and lotteries) are prohibited.  
However, raffles tickets sold by nonprofits before the event and off of City property may be 
redeemed during an event held in the Community Center.  

Smoking is prohibited inside of City facilities, on the second or third floor outdoor terraces, and/or 
parking garage at all times and outdoors within 25 feet of any operable doors and/or windows.  Defacing 
or damaging any element inside or outside of any City facility in any way is prohibited.  Using nails, 
adhesive tape or any other method to hang devices and/or decorations to walls, windows, ceilings or any 
other building element in a City facility is prohibited.  No alterations may be made to any fixture, 
equipment or building element in any City facility.  This means that all display elements must be free-
standing or table top. 

Event Security Requirements: 

Event security is required for events with an estimated attendance of in excess of 100 people (not 
including entertainers, caterers or other hospitality staff hired by the permittee).  With respect to events 
falling in this second category, the public agency has the option of providing its own dedicated security 
for the event at a ratio of no less than 1 security officer or administrator for every 25 attendees with 
written confirmation that security services will be provided for the entire event from the entity’s 
principal, or school district administrator , no later than when the balance of reservation fees are due to 
the City.  Should the public agency not have its own dedicated event security, security will be required 
and assigned by the City if applicable pursuant to this section, at the applicant’s cost.    

When security is required due to an event’s estimated attendance, the security is required from the time 
designated for guest arrival until the reservation end time and departure of the event’s attendees.  Security 
is not generally required during set up but is required during cleanup time.  With the exception of public 
agency events involving minors, all event security is provided by sworn officers of the Los Angeles 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 5 

County Sheriff’s Department unless the City has contracted with a security company to provide security 
at events held at the Community Center.   

Permit holders must be accurate in stating the number of attendees at an event to allow the City to 
calculate the security requirements. If attendance is understated and/or actual attendance exceeds 
the number that requires security or triggers the need for additional security, and adequate 
security has not been provided, staff, and/or event security will shut down the event and all fees 
and deposits paid to the City will be deemed forfeited.  

All estimated event security costs shall be paid to the City at the time the balance of reservation fees are 
due to the City.  Any overpayment of event security fees will be refunded to the payee as soon as possible 
following the event; however, not before the City is provided an invoice from the third party security 
provider 

 

 

Event Security Thresholds: 

  Events for Adults # of Officers Required  
0 – 100 guests  0 
101 – 132 guests 1 
133 or more guests  2 

Room Setup: 

City staff will complete room setup approximately two hours prior to the start of the event, at a cost to 
the applicant if the applicant has submitted a diagram with its application illustrating the following: 1) 
number and type of tables to be setup; 2) number of chairs required for the event; and 3) the proposed 
room layout.  Any additional setup including setting up equipment not owned by the City must be setup 
by the applicant. Any desired modifications to the initial room setup by the permit holder after staff has 
completed the initial setup and left the room must be completed by the applicant and his/her designee(s).      

The permit holder must also coordinate all deliveries for their event. All large deliveries for reservations 
in the Main Event Room, such as catered food, equipment and supplies, props, etc. secured by the permit 
holder, must enter the building through the service elevator.  Delivery and pickup of items ordered by 
the permit holder related to said reservation must take place within the permitted reservation hours and  
the permit holder, or his/her designee, must be present to accept all deliveries.  Deliveries that arrive at 
the community center facility prior to the permit holder’s or his/her designee’s on site arrival will not be 
accepted by staff.    

Room Cleanup – City Staff Clean Up  



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 6 

City staff will breakdown and store all City-owned equipment, such as tables and chairs, once the 
reservation end time has been reached. City staff will also empty the trash receptacles and sweep and 
mop the floor and kitchen floor areas.     

Room Cleanup – Permit Holder and Reservation Party: 

The permit holder and/or the reservation party is solely responsible for cleaning and removing all 
equipment not owned by the City such as, but not limited to: 1) tables and/or chairs rented from a third 
party; and 2) all privately-owned props and decorations. The permit holder and/or the reservation party 
is solely responsible for ensuring that all trash generated during the reservation is placed in the designated 
trash receptacles provided by the City. The permit holders will be held financially responsible for all 
costs related to clean up activities required by City for cleaning up spills and/or other hazardous floor 
conditions, the breakdown of non-City-owned equipment and/or picking up trash remaining on the floor 
as a result of the reservation activities during the cleanup process or following the departure of the permit 
holder.    

The permit holder is not required to remove trash from the building or sweep and/or mop the floor during 
the cleanup process.  However, when there are liquid and/or food spills, broken items, or other potentially 
dangerous elements on the floor as a result of the reservation activities, the permit holder must 
immediately clean up such substances, to the best of their ability, and notify City staff.  If maintenance 
equipment and/or supplies are needed to remove spill(s) or other substances the permit holder must 
request assistance from City staff.       

 

ROOM RESERVATION AND PAYMENT OF NON-REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT: 

Reservations for rooms within the Harold E. Hofmann Community Center will be accepted in person 
from applicants who have completed a “Facility Reservation Application for Indoor Facilities” and have 
paid the Non-Refundable Deposit fee of 25% of the Room Reservation Fees as determined by the 
information included on the completed Facility Reservation Application for Indoor Facilities application.  
Room reservations can be completed online once the City has made this option available.  Please see 
Online Facility Reservation and Payment Procedures.  See “In-person Facility Reservation and 
Payment Procedures” section on page 7 for online Room Reservation and Payment Procedures of Non-
Refundable Deposit. 

Multiple date reservations require payment of the Non-Refundable Deposit fee for each reservation date.  
Room Reservation Fees include the hourly fee for the room requested multiplied by the number of hours 
requested plus the security deposit and any other applicable fees.  Once an application has been 
completed and the Non-Refundable Room Reservation Deposit has been paid, the reservation is 
considered pending until the balance of the required fees have been paid.  Any applicant who fails to pay 
their fee balance at least eight business days (Monday – Thursday excluding city holidays) in advance 
of their event date, or the first date of a multiple date reservation request, will lose their reservation and 
forfeit their Non-Refundable Deposit, and the reservation space will be eligible for new reservations.    

Payment Deadlines: 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 7 

If reservation fees are paid 60 days in advance of the reservation date (or the initial reservation date 
with multiple reservation dates), payment of the balance of fees owed is due at least 8 business days 
before the (initial) reservation date to finalize the booking.   

If reservation fees are paid less than 60 days in advance of the reservation date (or the initial date 
with multiple reservation dates), to finalize the booking, payment of the balance of the fees owed is due 
to the City no less than: (i) 8 business days before the (initial) reservation date.    

A reservation for an event within 8 business days of City’s receipt of an application will be approved if 
the desired facility is available, staff are available for the event, and the applicant submits all reservation 
fees in cash, money order, or cashier’s check at the time of the application’s submittal.  

Please note that the balance of fees due can be paid at any time prior to the payment deadline, 
including when initially making a reservation, to secure the booking. If the full balance of fees due 
is not paid on or before the payment deadline, the reservation is cancelled and the non-refundable room 
deposit fee is retained by the City. 

In-Person Facility Reservations and Payment Procedures: 

Facility reservations are made in person at the Harold E. Hofmann Community Center, second floor 
Reception Office.  All  reservation payments must be made in person with payment made by credit or 
debit card (VISA, MasterCard or American Express), cash, personal check, money order or cashier’s 
check at the City’s Finance Department, located at City Hall, any day Monday through Thursday, 
excluding City holidays, between 7:00 a.m. and 5:30 p.m.    Each payment by check, money order and/or 
cashier’s check must be made payable to the “City of Lawndale.”  Post-dated checks will not be accepted.  
The City will charge a fee for any check(s) returned to the City for insufficient funds or any other reason.  

Online Facility Reservation and Payment Procedures: 

Facility reservations can be completed online by visiting the Community Services Department webpage  
at http://www.lawndalecity.org/html/DEPTHTML/CSD/CommServc.htm and clicking on the 

 button once this option available.  Please contact the Community Services 
Department at (310) 973-3288, or (310) 973-3272 to inquire whether or not this reservation option is 
available.  When this option is available, payments can be made 24/7/365 using credit or debit card 
(VISA, MasterCard or American Express).  

Facility Walk Through: 

After a permit is issued, the permittee, or the permittee’s designee, will be required to attend a facility 
walk through with City staff to confirm the details of the reservation and amenities to be used including 
the facility checklist.  After a permit is issued, all permit change requests which require additional 
payment must be made prior to the City’s established payment deadline.       

Facility Inspection Process on Day of Use: 

Immediately upon entering the room on the day of use, the permit holder must inspect the reservation 
area and confirm its condition by signing the Condition of Facilities form and noting any discrepancies 

http://www.lawndalecity.org/html/DEPTHTML/CSD/CommServc.htm


Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 8 

from the information on the Condition of Facilities form.  At the conclusion of his/her use of the facility 
the permittee must visually inspect the facility a second time to confirm via a second signature the 
information on the form and note any discrepancies from the conditions noted prior to the reservation. 
If there are disagreements regarding the condition of the room at the conclusion of any reservation, 
disputes will be resolved by the Community Services Department administrative staff the next business 
day.   

Insurance Requirements: 

All reservations require Commercial General Liability Insurance naming the City, the applicant and the 
organization obtaining the permit if an organization is the applicant.  Organizations with Commercial 
General Liability Insurance have the option of providing such to the City, provided it meets the City’s 
requirements and names the City of Lawndale and each of its officers, agents and employees as 
additionally insureds.   

Individuals or organizations without Commercial General Liability Insurance must purchase general 
liability insurance from a third party carrier identified by the City.  Any applicant obtaining insurance 
through the City must pay the cost of this insurance to the City at the time the reservation fees are paid 
in full or at the time the balance of fees are due to the City.  

Cancellation of Permit(s) by the City: 

The City may cancel or defer any issued permit(s) for any facility that is needed by the City for a civic 
affair or other significant function.  If a permit is cancelled by the City for such reason, the permit holder 
shall be eligible for a refund of all fees paid to the City including the Non-Refundable Deposit.   

If an extended use permit holder fails to use a facility on 2 permitted dates the City may cancel a permit 
for the remainder of the permit period. 

If a permit holder, or any guest using the facility during his/her reservation period, leaves the facility in 
an unclean or otherwise unsatisfactory condition, damages the facility, or for other good cause, City staff 
may cancel a permit prior to or during an event, including cancelling subsequent dates, and will impose 
additional costs as described in the "Additional Charges after Use” section.  Furthermore, following 
cancellation of a permit by the City for reasons set forth in this paragraph, the permit holder shall be 
permanently ineligible for future permits. 

If a permit holder's event is terminated by staff due to a violation of any city, state or other agency's 
rules or the permit holder’s action or failure to act, no fees or deposits will be refunded. 

Cancellation by User: 

A permit holder who timely cancels a reservation may submit a written request to the Community 
Services Department for a refund of reservation fees and security deposits, less the non-refundable room 
reservation deposits, any Reservation Cancellation Fee adopted by the City Council, and all costs 
incurred by the City, provided the cancellation and written request is received by the Community 
Services Department Director, or his/her designee no less than 5 business days in advance of the 
reservation or any subsequent reservation date, as applicable.  



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 9 

Failure to Use Facility Without Cancellation and Late Cancellation: 

A permit holder who fails to use a reserved facility without providing a written request to cancel the 
reservation to the Community Services Department Director or his/her designee fewer than 5 business 
days in advance of the reservation date will forfeit all deposits and fees paid.  

Security Deposit Refunds:  

City staff and the permit holder will inspect all areas of use before the permit holder leaves the premises.  
If the facility is found to be in satisfactory condition by the City, and the permit holder has not forfeited 
some or all of the deposit for one of the reasons described in this policy, the balance of the security 
deposit fees will be refunded through the City's standard warrants procedure.  The refund process will 
begin no sooner than the first business day following said reservation or following the final reservation 
date for a permit issued for multiple dates.  For fees paid by credit card a refund cannot be processed 
sooner than 30 days after the reservation was paid.  

Additional Charges after Use: 

Permit holders will be charged for all excess costs incurred by the City for the permit holder, or their 
guests or vendors, entering the reservation facility prior to the permit start time and/or not concluding 
their use, including clean up time, and exiting the facility, or the applicable parking garage after the 
expiration of the approved permit time. Such costs may include additional staff time and/or event security 
costs, damages, and any other costs incurred by the City.  Permit holders shall be responsible for costs 
associated with cleaning any facility that is left in an unsatisfactory condition and damage to any City 
property or equipment caused by the permit holder and/or his/her guests.  

Costs incurred by the City will be recovered from the security deposit. After an event requiring a security 
deposit deduction(s), the security deposit refund will not be processed until all necessary reservation 
facts are gathered by the City. Should additional charges exceed the amount of the security deposit, the 
permit holder will be billed by the City for the excess amount.  Should the permit holder fail to remit 
payment for the full amount invoiced within 30 days of the date of the invoice, the permit holder will be 
ineligible for future use of any City facility for one year and until payment has been made, whichever is 
later. 

Storage and Items Left Behind: 

No permit holder, or his or her guests or vendors, may store any equipment or materials at any City 
facility without the prior written approval from the City.  Additionally, the City is not responsible for 
items left behind after a reservation and may dispose of such items in the manner deemed appropriate 
by the City. In addition, items delivered to the City prior to any reservation and before the permit holder 
is present will not be accepted by the City. 

 
Waiver of Use Fees: 
 
Fee waiver requests must be submitted to the Community Services Department with a completed 
Application for Facility Use form. Organizations that fall within one of the qualification groups below 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 10 

may receive a waiver of use fees for as many as four reservations per year (July 1 – June 30) for an 
event or activity that is open to the public and for the benefit of Lawndale residents and businesses:    

1. Non-profit organizations recognized by the State of California and organized under Section 
501(c)(3) or 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code that qualify as either a Lawndale youth-
based or a Lawndale community-based organization as defined in Chapter 8.12 of the Lawndale 
Municipal Code;  

2. City sponsored or City affiliated organizations; 
3. Schools which are affiliated with or chartered by the Lawndale Elementary School District or the 

Centinela Valley Unified High School District; and 
4. Governmental agencies or elected officials representing Lawndale using the facility for the 

purpose of conducting an event or activity for the benefit of Lawndale residents and businesses.  

Fee Waiver Conditions: 

Fee waivers will be granted by the Community Services Department staff member or staff members 
designated by the City Manager.  Fee waiver decisions can be appealed in writing to the City Manager. 

Only Room Reservation Fees are eligible for consideration for a waiver of use fees.  Other fees such as 
insurance, security deposits, event security fees and City staff time costs cannot be waived.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Indemnification and Release: 

All applicants will be required to acknowledge by signature the following indemnification clause when 
completing an Application for Facility Use.  An application without a signature from the applicant 
acknowledging and agreeing to the indemnification clause will not be considered complete.  

I, ______________________ (FULL NAME), on behalf of _______________ (ORGANIZATION) 
understand that my/our use of the ______________________ (hereinafter "City Facility") exposes me/us to 



Exhibit A 
Resolution No. CC-2010-055 
Adopting Council Policy 104-20 
Harold E. Hofmann Community Center  
Facilities Rules and Regulations   

 
Council Policy No. 104-20 

Page 11 

the risk of personal injury, death or property damage, as well as the risk of injury or damage to other people 
or property.  I hereby acknowledge that I am voluntarily requesting to use this City Facility and agree to 
assume any such risks on behalf of myself and the Organization and any participants in said use. 

I/we hereby release, discharge and agree not to sue City of Lawndale and its officers, agents, and/or employees 
from and against any claim for any injury, death or damage to or loss of personal property arising out of, or 
in connection with, my and the Organization's use of the City Facility from whatever cause, including the 
active or passive negligence of City of Lawndale or any other participant in the use of the City Facility, other 
than an injury or damage arising out of the sole negligence or willful misconduct of City, its officers, 
agents, and/or employees. 

In consideration for being permitted to use the City Facility, I/we hereby agree, for myself, my heirs and 
assigns and the Organization that I/the Organization shall indemnify and hold harmless City of Lawndale, its 
officers, agents, and/or employees from any and all claims, demands actions or suits arising out of or in 
connection with my/the Organization's use of the City Facility other than claims arising as a result of the City’s 
gross negligence or willful neglect. 

I HAVE CAREFULLY READ THIS RELEASE, HOLD HARMLESS, AND AGREEMENT NOT TO 
SUE AND FULLY UNDERSTAND ITS CONTENTS. IF THIS APPLICATION IS BEING SOUGHT ON 
BEHALF OF AN ORGANIZATION, I AM DULY AUTHORIZED TO SIGN THIS RELEASE ON 
BEHALF OF THE ORGANIZATION.  I AM AWARE THAT THIS IS A FULL RELEASE OF ALL 
LIABILITY AND SIGN IT ON MY OWN FREE WILL. ADDITIONALLY, MY SIGNATURE BELOW 
CONFIRMS THAT I HAVE I HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS POLICY AND AGREE TO 
COMPLY WITH ALL OF THE RULES, REGULATIONS, AND POLICIES SET FORTH ABOVE AND 
UNDERSTAND THAT ANY VIOLATION(S) OF THIS POLICY WILL SUBJECT ME TO THE 
PENALTIES DESCRIBED ABOVE. 

 

    
Applicant's Printed Name    Applicant's Signature 
 
______________________         
 
       Dated:     



10







RESOLUTION NO. CC-2010-056 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 

DECLARING AN EMERGENCY CONDITION AND 
APPROVING THE WORK NECESSARY TO MAKE REPAIRS 

TO THE LAWNDALE COMMUNITY CENTER WITHOUT NOTICE FOR BIDS 
PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE 

SECTIONS 1102, 20168 AND 22050  
 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Public Contract Code section 22050, in the case of an emergency, a 
public agency, pursuant to a four-fifths vote of its governing body, may repair or replace a public facility, 
take any directly related and immediate action required by that emergency, and procure the necessary 
equipment, services, and supplies for those purposes, without giving notice for bids to let contracts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on Monday, September 28, 2020, a flood occurred at the Lawndale Community 
Center, causing damage to the carpeting, fixtures, and walls; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this unexpected occurrence poses a clear and imminent danger requiring immediate 
action to allow the City staff to continue providing services to residents and businesses and to continue 
the City’s operations at the  Lawndale Community Center, which are essential public services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the flooding and resulting damage at the Lawndale Community Center constitutes 
an “emergency” as that term is defined in Public Contract Code section 1102; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Public Contract Code sections 20168 and 22050 the authorization of 
emergency expenditures may be approved by the adoption, by a four-fifths vote, of a resolution declaring 
that the public interest and necessity demand the immediate expenditure of public money to safeguard 
life, health, or property such that the City is authorized to procure the necessary equipment, services, and 
supplies for those purposes, without giving notice for bids to let contracts; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to use the process authorized by Public Contract Code section 
22050 to immediately repair the damage at the Lawndale Community Center; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the estimated cost to the City of repairing this damage is not currently known; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the status of the emergency repair work will be reviewed at every regularly 
scheduled meeting hereafter, until the repair work has been completed, to ensure that the need to continue 
the action continues to exist. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA, 
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Recitals above are hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 
herein. 
 
 SECTION 2. The City Council finds, based on substantial evidence, that the facts set forth 
above constitute facts demonstrating that an emergency condition exists and that said emergency poses 



Resolution No. CC-2010-056 
Emergency Declaration, Community Center Water Damage 2 

a clear and imminent danger, requiring immediate action to prevent or mitigate the loss or impairment 
of life, health, property, and essential public services and that such emergency condition does not permit 
the delays which would result from a competitive solicitation for bids to make the various repairs needed.  
The City Council further finds that the public interest and necessity demand the immediate expenditure 
of public funds to repair the Lawndale Community Center to respond to the emergency conditions and 
to safeguard life, health, and public property. 
 
 SECTION 3. The City Manager and City Engineer are hereby granted the authority to undertake 
or order such actions as they deem to be necessary to cause the needed repairs to the Lawndale 
Community Center to be made. The City Engineer or City Manager shall offer the needed work to a 
qualified contractor for its immediate acceptance and the commencement of performance thereunder. 
 
 SECTION 4. The City Manager and/or City engineer shall cause a report on the status of the 
emergency circumstances to be agendized at each City Council meeting until either the repair work has 
been completed or this Council finds that the emergency conditions have ceased to be present. 
 
 SECTION 5.  The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this resolution. 
 
 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of October, 2020. 
 
 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
  



Resolution No. CC-2010-056 
Emergency Declaration, Community Center Water Damage 3 

ATTEST: 
 
State of California  ) 
County of Los Angeles ) SS 
City of Lawndale  ) 
 
I, Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk of the City of Lawndale, California, do hereby certify that the City 
Council of the City of Lawndale duly approved and adopted the foregoing Resolution No. CC-2010-056 at 
a regular meeting of said Council held on the 5th day of October, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor      
James H. Osborne, Mayor Pro Tem      
Pat Kearney      
Daniel Reid       
Bernadette Suarez      

 
 
_______________________________ 
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Tiffany J. Israel, City Attorney 
 



11





12


	20-10-05 reg.agn
	1. Reading of Ordinances
	2. Ordinance 1175-20 Density Bonus
	3. Second Reading Ord recovery of attorney fees public nuisance
	4. Crown Castle RUA agreement
	5. Claims against the City
	6. Warrants
	7. 20-09-21 reg.min
	8. Amend title 17 of LMC ADU
	9. Community Center Facilities Use Policy
	10. Emergency Declaration Community Center Flood
	11. CARES Act
	12. Councilmember attendance

	Button1: 


